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Throughout World War II, a German prisoner of war branch camp
operated intermittently near Council Grove, Kansas. The United
States Army established such camps to alleviate the shortage of
agricultural labor which existed at that time.

Under the terms of the Geneva Convention, war prisoners could
be required to work for their captors. This allowed the United
States to establish the Prisoner of War Labor Program. Numerous
federal agencies such as the Department of Agriculture and the War
Manpower Commission assisted with the organization and
administration of this program. On the local level, the county
agent worked with the U.S. Employment Service in overseeing the
program. In Council Grove, a comittee of area farmers and
ranchers organized the Morris County Agricultural Association to
help in expediting the procedure for obtaining prisoner labor.

Once the camp was established, prisoners performed a variety
of tasks. The amployers found these men to be hard workers and

generally had few problems with them. Most were sorry to see the



prisoners leave.

A greater number of prisoners of war were used on farms
during World War II than in any other form of employment. The
success of the POW program at Council Grove, exemplifies that of

the experiment in agricultural labor on the national level.
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CHAPTER 1:

LABOR SHORTAGE

To most Americans the phrase "prisoner of war" conjures up
images of men held captive in dismal concentration camps, or
worse. A few Americans who hear the phrase, however, recall a
period during World War II when "prisoner of war" meant
assistance in the harvesting of crops that would have otherwise
been plowed under. In Council Grove, Kansas, as in many other
rural communities, the United States Army established a prisoner
of war branch camp to alleviate the shortage of civilian
laborers.

A shortage of agricultural laborers existed even before the
Unites States entered the world-wide conflict. Industry geared up
to meet the needs of countries at war and as a result, rural areas
lost population in the call to defense plants and profitable
construction jobs. For example, in Morris County, Kansas between
1942 and 1943, the population fell by 223 to a total population of
9,350. The total Morris County population in 1930 was 11,859 with
6,724 listed as farm population. In 1940, the population fell to
10,363 with 5,619 on farms, and in 1950 this trend continued with
a total population of 8,485 and a farm population of 4,051. While
the rural areas lost population, urban areas grew. An example of
this growth trend is Wichita, Kansas which had a population of
111,110 in 1930; 114,966 in 1940; and 168,279 in 1950.1!

With the entrance of the United States into the war, the
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drain on rural areas intensified. In addition to the enticement
of industry's higher wages and shorter hours the draft of young,
able-bodied men drew a significant number of laborers from the
rural areas. Many farm operators joined the ranks of the
industrial workers and left their wives and children to work the
farms. Other farm workers considered "essential" to the war
effort joined the armed forces because they did not want to bear
the stigma of cowardice. Add to these causes the lack of
machinery and parts to repair the same, and the result could be
less farm production at a time of critical need.

The shortage of agricultural labor was of concern to the
entire country. In September and October 1942 the U.S.
Congressional House Committee on Agriculture held a hearing on
farm labor and production. Secretary of Agriculture Claude R.
Wickard testified:

I want to emphasize that this problem of farm labor
cannot be overlooked or ignored. It is not simply a question
affecting agriculture; it is a question which affects the
entire war effort... We must weigh every possible solution
and be prepared to take the necessary action. In any case,
there must be a recognition on the part of all responsible
agencies in Government that unless we find some way to deal
with the farm-labor problem and other problems of farm
production satisfactorily, we must find some way, in the not
too distant future, to deal with a shortage of food. Food is
just as much a weapon in this war as guns. I hope that we
cane to this realization in time to prevent still another
instance of "too little and too late."?

The Committee findings made recommendations for alleviating
the shortage of agricultural laborers. Same of their findings
included: deferred draft classifications for men engaged in
essential food production; adjustment of either farm prices or
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industrial wages; recognition that agricultural production was
essential to the war effort and therefore requests for materials
for farm machinery should be respected; ard, determination of the
manpower available nationwide with the establishment of a priority
system for the allocation of the available supply of such
manpower .3

In some rural areas concern for the labor shortage resulted
in letters and petitions being sent to Congressional members. One
petition fram Geary County, Kansas, (immediately north of Morris
County) made the recommendations that: 1) agriculture be
provided with enocugh experienced help that farm production reach a
maximum capacity, 2) experienced farm workers not be allowed to
enter the defense industry simply because of higher wages, and 3)
as far as possible allow "an able-bodied man be left on each farm
that is producing the real necessities of war.™

Various agencies of the federal government, especially the
U.S. Department of Agriculture ard the War Manpower Commission,
aware of the problem, were in the process of establishing a number
of programs to combat the manpower shortage. Of major importance
was legislation concerning the deferment of agricultural workers.
In October/November 1942 a bill was introduced reducing the draft
age from 21 to 18 years. An amendment to the bill became the
basic principle for farm deferment after November. The deferment
of agricultural workers was made statutory by this act and was the
only group to be so designated. Additional legislation provided

for the importation of alien farm workers to cambat the situation.



This allowed the admission of Mexicans, Jamaicans and Bahamians
into the country under special provisions.’

Other cooperative programs established to cambat the lack of
laborers included the Victory Farm Volunteers, U.S. Crop Corps,
and the Women's Land Army. While these groups did aid
agriculture, they were not sufficient to stem the threat of lower
agricultural production. In fact, manpower for agricultural
purposes was deficient throughout the war.®

In 1943, with the defeat of Rommel's Afrika Korps, a new
source of labor relief for agriculture arrived on the shores of
the United States. Many agencies now had to cooperate in

administering the Prisoner of War Program.



CHAPTER 2:

THE PRISONER OF WAR SYSTEM: ADMINISTRATION AND GUIDELINES

The successful operation of a program as extensive as that
concerning war prisoners required adherence to national policies
and international agreements in addition to a great deal of
coordination between govermment agencies. Prior to the nation's
entrance into the conflict, the U.S. Army had little experience
with the administration and detention of war prisoners in the
cantinental United States. Between the two world wars little was
done in preparation for the possible internment of war prisoners.
The primary guidelines followed by the United States were those of
the Geneva Conwvention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of
War.”

The Geneva Convention, signed July 27, 1929, consists of 97
articles oconcerned with improving the conditions of prisoners of
war. It was this agreement that directed all future operations
concerning the prisoners. In fact, when war was declared the
United States requested the Swiss Govermment notify enemy nations
of U.S. intent to camply with the Geneva Convention.®

Provisions of the Geneva Convention specified that prisoners
could be required to work for their captors. Articles 27 through
34 formed the framework of the Prisoner of War (POW) 1labor

program. Among the provisions, the most pertinent are:



Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

Article

11:

17:

27:

28:

30:

31:

32:

34:

The Power detaining prisoners of war is bound
to provide for their maintenance.

The food ration of prisoners of war shall be
equal in quantity and quality to that of
troops at base camps.

So far as possible, belligerents shall
encourage intellectual diversions and sports
organized by prisoners of war.

Belligerents may utilize the 1labor of able
prisoners of war, according to their rank and
aptitude, officers and persons of equivalent
status excepted.

The detaining Power shall assume entire
responsibility for the maintenance, care,
treatment and payment of wages of prisoners of
war working for the account of private
persons.

The length of the day's work of prisoners of
war, including therein the trip going and
returning, shall not be excessive and must
not, in any case, exceed that allowed for the
civil workers in the region employed at the
same work. Every prisoner shall be allowed a
rest of twenty-four consecutive hours every
week, preferably on Sunday.

Labor furmished by prisoners of war shall have
no direct relation with war operations.

It is forbidden to use prisoners of war at
unhealthful or dangercus work.

The system of 1labor detachments must be
similar to that of prisoners-of-war camps,
particularly with regard to sanitary
conditions, food, attention in case of
accident or sickness, correspondence and the
receipt of packages.

Prisoners of war shall not receive wages for
work connected with the administration,
management and maintenance of the camps.
Prisoners utilized for other work shall be
entitled to wages to be fixed by agreements
between the belligerents.®

As the war in Europe escalated, United States Army personnel
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realized that provisions had to be made for the accommodation of
war prisoners. Agencies and policies were continually modified
throughout the war; however, a first step had to be taken, and in
July 1941 the Office of the Provost Marshal General was
established.

The major responsibilities of the Provost Marshal General
included: the organization, training and operation of the Corps
of Military Police, Security Intelligence Corps and the
Counterintelligence Corps; protection and supervision of wvital
military and industrial installations; and the control and
supervision of prisoners of war in the United States. Within
this office there were divisions established primarily to deal
with the POW operations.

The Prisoner of War Operations Division supervised the
internment of war prisoners, including adherence to the provisions
of the Geneva Convention and development of the policies and
procedures for the camps. Charged with maintaining information on
prisoners of war was the Prisoner of War Information Division.
This agency was also responsible for handling mail, money and
personal property of the prisoners. Finally, the Special Projects
Division supervised the activities of the prisoners in regard to
morale, recreation, education and their general welfare.l®

With the operations of the Provost Marshal General's Office
in place, additional planning for the arrival of prisoners began.
In April 1942 the basic policies of the War Department, based on

the provisions of the Geneva Convention, were outlined in a



manual, "Civilian Enemy Aliens and Prisoners of War." This
publication authorized contract employment of the captives and
contained the principle that "control of prisoners of war at all
times would remain in Army hands except for the extent of on-
the-job supervision."'! In August, Great Britain requested the
United States imprison 50,000 prisoners on ane-month's notice with
another 100,000 to be accommodated in three months. This
accelerated planning for the intermment of war prisoners.l?

The War Department was not alone in the operation of the POW
program. With the approval of the use of prisoners of war in
contract labor, coordination with additional federal agencies was
necessary.

The War Manpower Cammission was created by Executive Order
9139 on April 18, 1942, to "formulate plans and programs and
establish basic national policies to assure the most effective
mobilization and maximum utilization of the war."” In September,
several other functions were transferred to the Cammission,
including those of the United States Employment Service.!l3

Several divisions within the War Manpower Commission
contributed to the administration of agricultural 1labor. The
Rural Industries Division dealt with activities characterized by
seasonal employment 1located in rural area. The many
responsibilities of this Division included:

Determining the extent and character of the 1labor
requirements of the rural industries and the sources
from which they could be filled;

Coordinating recruitment for the industries with the
over-all 1labor-mobilization responsibility of the War
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Manpower Cammission and with the seasonal farm-labor

program of the War Food Administration;

Review of the farm-labor program of the War Food

Administration; and

Evaluating the operations of agreements between the

United States Employment Service and the State Extension

services involving the recruitment and placement of farm

labor.4

The War Manpower Commission had offices in every state and
local offices known as United States Employment Service offices.
The main function of the U.S. Employment Service during the war
was to get workers on essential jobs as quickly as possible. This
organization also maintained lists of essential activities and
occupations; established a 1liaison with government agencies
involved with agriculture to maintain full wutilization of
manpower for the production of food; and furmished the basic
labor-market information upon which labor demand and supply
analyses were made for use by priorities committees, selective
service boards and other goverrment agencies.!S®
The War Food Administration of the Department of Agriculture

was established by Executive Order 9334 in April 1943 to ensure
the production and distribution of food needed for the war effort.
Within the War Food Administration was the Extension Service
which operated in the states through the State Director of
Extension and in counties through the county agent. The state
directors and county agents were held responsible for certifying
the need and making local arrangements for the use of outside
labor.16

Finally, in August 1943, the War Department and War Manpower



Comnission came to an agreement concerning the hiring of war
prisoners. This agreement reiterated the provisions of the Geneva
Convention enabling the captives to work for private contractors.
It also directed the War Manpower Commission to handle the
requests for all types of labor with the requests for agricultural
labor being handled through the State Extension Service
Director.l’

With the cooperation of these several agencies, operations
concerning prisoner of war labor could be conducted on three
levels. At the national level policies and procedures governing
the employment of prisoners were determined. Regional directors
of the War Manpower Commission cooperated with state extension
directors for the distribution of prisoners and interpretation of
the policies and procedures developed at the national level. And
finally, local operations of prisoner of war labor were supervised
by the camp commanders with advice fram both the county agents and
the local director of the U.S. Hmployment Service. With these
employment policies in place, it was time to receive prisoners

into the heartland of the country.l®
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CHAPTER 3:

THE BRANCH CAMP AT OOUNCIL GROVE

When the United States entered the war in December 1941, only
minimal plans for the confinement of prisoners of war existed.
The primary policy at this time was to simply oconfine the
prisoners in intermment camps. Security was the major concern,
and camps were situated in areas distant fram population centers
and sensitive military and industrial installations. The location
of the camps generally did not correspond with the areas
suffering labor shortages.l?

1943 brought a change in prisoner of war operations. Many
areas of the country were short of civilian laborers and the War
Department decided to rectify the low supply by experimenting with
Axis prisoners as a labor force. The experiment in agricultural
labor provided a beneficial service to all involved--farmer,
prisoner and the military.2°

Agricultural labor shortages were critical in Kansas as they
were throughout the nation. As early as February 1943 this
problem was recognized and agricultural colleges across the nation
were consulted as to the shortages within their state. F.D.
Farrell, President of the Kansas State College of Agriculture and
Applied Science, responded in a letter that there was "increasing
apprehension among farmers regarding aggravated labor shortages
... and considerable doubt ... about the possibility of
maintaining production at 1942 levels."?1
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With the agreement between the War Department and the War
Manpower Commission, the solution to the manpower shortage in
agriculture was announced to the public.?? On April 6, 1943, the

Council Grove Republican ran the following:

WORK AXIS PRISONERS
Secretary Claude Wickard is negotiating with the War
Department for German and Italian prisoners in this
country to work on farms. The men will have to be
worked in groups so they can be guarded.?3
Public Law 45, 78th Congress, 1lst Session declared that
Civilian Conservation Corps camps could be used for the internment
of war prisoners.?4 During May, Army personnel made several
visits to Council Grove to inspect Camp Fremont, the former CCC
canp located there, to determine what use it could be to the Army
or whether it could be deeded to the county.?3 By May 18, 1943,
federal authorities determined that Camp Fremont would not be
required for military purposes, and on May 28, full title to Camp
Fremont was granted to Morris County. Much discussion ensued
concerning what use was to be made of the camp. By August it was
the temporary home for 220 German war prisoners.26
The anticipation of a labor shortage brought the members of
the Morris County Farm Labor Cammittee together in July to discuss
a means of harvesting fall crops. The establishment of a prisoner
of war camp appeared to be the best solution. Walter 0. Scott,
Morris County Agricultural Agent, discussed this proposition with
Frank Blecha, District Farm Labor Agent, at the Annual Conference
in Topeka. Scott and several farmers conducted an investigation
of community reaction to the proposed camp. The local newspaper,
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the Council Grove Republican, assisted in this effort by

publishing several articles about the camp and runmning a ocolumn
concerning public opinion.??

In general the comunity favored such a camp, as shown in the
article "Favor Making Prisoners Work" in which R.R. Cross said "I
can't see any objection to bringing in this type of labor. Feed
is going to be heavy this fall and it will be a man-sized job to
handle. These soldiers ought to be husky. Probably farmers would
not trust tractors with them unless there are tank operators in
the lot." Lauren Rumsey agreed that "The idea is all right.
There is lots of work to be done. In an ensilage crew, one guard
can watch several workers." According to N.M. Ruddick, "There is
o question but what more farm hands will be needed in the county.
We know there is labor at that source. If farmers want them, it
should be a fine thing." And a Four Mile farmer remarked, "It is
pitiful that these husky well-fed men are allowed to sit around
idle while we work fram dawn to dark feeding them. If I could
have had a crew of 20 last month, they could have cut weeds from
corn fields and put the land in fine shape for next year. If
these prisoners are going to eat better food than we have, let 'em
help raise it."28

On August 8, about 80 farmers and businessmen met with Lt.
Colaonel Francis M. Jordan, commanding officer of the prisoner of
war camp at Camp Phillips (a base camp near Salina, Kansas) and
Frank Blecha from Manhattan to discuss the conditions of prisoner

of war employment. Colonel Jordan began the meeting with the
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caution, "If prisoners of war are allocated to Morris county it is
to serve in an emergency. If you can get hame labor, don't ask
for prison hands.” The evening consisted of an explanation of
rules to be followed when using war prisoners. Same of these
rules demanded: prisoners remain away fram camp only 11 hours,
including lunch; prisoners have the same working conditions and
food as free labor; and also, that men will be fitted to jobs when
possible with the same crews assigned to farmers when possible.??
The response to the discussion was favorable and it was decided to
establish the branch camp as soon as possible. There were two
prerequisites to be met: 1) the determination of the average wage
and 2) the amount of available work for the prisoners.3°

To determine the average wage W.L. Olson, Chairman of the
Farm Labor Committee, called a public hearing to be held on August
11. The hearing resulted in the following wage rates being
recammended:

Farm work by day such as feed
shucking, weed cutting, haying

and harvesting . . .$ .35 per hour
Husking com « .. .08 per bushel
Apple picking . .. .08 per bushel
Apple grading and boxing .« e . .09 per bushel

Silo filling . . . .40 per hour
Chicken picking « « « .30-39% per hour3?

These recammendations were taken to Dean H. Umberger at
Kansas State University in Manhattan by a comittee of W.L. Olson,

L.J. Blythe, C.H. White, Harry Wyatt and J.A. Lindgren. Umberger
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in turm contacted the War Manpower Commission and Colonel Jordan.
Jordan approved the wage scale and sent it on to the Seventh Army
Corps officials in Omaha with a sample contract. Approval of both
was received on August 24.32

Arrangements for the use of Camp Fremont were made with the
county camnissioners. Flood lights and a snow fence enclosure
topped with barbed wire were erected to meet Army requirements.
All involved agreed that the commissioners could charge®?

a two-cent per-hour fee to pay for the light, water and heating
bills incurred. The anticipated arrival of prisoners on August
29 allowed only ten days for the local authorities to prepare the
camp. An advance crew of prisoners arrived on August 26 to set
up the mess facilities.34

The Council Grove Republican described the arrival of the

prisoners on August 29, "A long convoy of closely-guarded army
trucks wound through Main street about 11 o'clock Sunday morning
loaded with 220 Nazi prisoners."3%

The captives were available for work on Monday August 30.
However, advance application for the use of prisoner labor was
required to facilitate the smooth operation of the program. The
Farm Bureau was responsible for +taking all applications and
writing all the contracts for the prisoner labor. Between August
30 and September 15 individual farmers contracted with the War
Department for a specific number of prisoners to be used a certain
number of days. After mid-September a new procedure was

implemented in compliance with requirements of the War Manpower
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Camission.36

Under this new system a farmer was required to make
application for free labor at the District United States
Employment Service Office. The office in turn filed a certificate
- of need with the State War Manpower Cammission Office stating that
no free labor was available and that the farmer would be allowed
to employ prisoners of war at the established wage. After this
certificate was issued it was reviewed by the state and regional
directors of the War Manpower Commission. With approval granted,
a farmer was then able to enter a contract with the Army. This
procedure proved to be time consuming and local farmers sought a
method in which the procedure could be expedited. Frank Blecha
called for the organization of a county association to handle the
procedures.?7?

On September 21 a meeting was held to discuss the new
procedures. Those in attendance included Lt. Colonel Francis
Jordan and Captain G.G. Wickliff, Prisoner of War Side Camp®®
No. 1; Edward Franzke and Earl B. Lewis, State War Manpower
Comnission Office; Frank Reidenour, District U.S. Employment
Service Representative; Frank Blecha; W.L. Olson, Chairman of the
Farm Labor Subcommittee of Morris county; and Walter O. Scott,
county agent. Franzke began with a review of the procedures
involved in securing a contract. Blecha addressed the idea of
the organization of a farmers association to draw up a "master
contract" with the Army for the prisoner labor. With the approval

of such a ocontract the Association would be free to sub-contract
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‘the labor to individual farmers without going through the
circuitous approval procedure.3®

The idea of a master contract appealed to both the farmers
and the Army. On Septeamber 22 representatives fram Morris and
Lyon counties met and formed the Morris County Agricultural
Association. Officers elected were J.A. Lindgren, President;
Kenneth Kline, Vice-president; C.H. White, Treasurer; and Walter
0. Scott, Secretary. The Association made application for 100
farm laborers for a period of 20 days. Certification was received
five days later and sub-contracting was initiated. By October 31,
55 farmers had sub-contracted for prisoner labor.4?

Before prisoners could be taken to farms and ranches the
employers were required to post cash or a check with the
Association to guarantee payment. This was due in part to the
$1,360 deposit the Association had to place with the Army to be
held in escrow. Once the hurdles of certification of need,
contract and advance payment were met, the prisoners of war could
be sent out to the fields.4!

Army regulation required that employers furnish
transportation fram and to the camp. Additional rules stipulated
that:

Prisoners be worked in squads of four or more;

Farmers furnish the noon meal to the prisoners and
guards, the same meal furnished the farmer and his hired
hands;

The employer work along with prisoners and furnish all

materials and equipment needed in the performance of the
work; and
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Employers abide by the requirements and prohibitions of
the Geneva Convention of July 27, 1929.42

The United States Armmy, the agency responsible for the
treatment of the captives, was concermed about their management
fgndsupexvisimwhentheywereawayfmncanp. To aid the
T“‘mpexviso:r of prisoner laborers, the Army developed extensive
guldelines. The major publication dealing with prisoners of war

in general was Enemy Prisoners of War, War Department Technical

'Manual ™ 19-500, published for the information and guidance of

all concerned. Enemy Prisoners of War covered all aspects of
prisoner administration, including education, recreation,
. religion, letters and cards, newspapers and marriage. It was an
extensive publication and was frequently updated.?43

Other publications specifically dealt with German prisoners.

Prisoner of War Labor, a handbook designed for work supervisors,

urged them to become familiar with the publication and "to accept
its recommendations for practical application in order to get the
best results fram the use of prisoner of war 1labor.” This
pamphlet summarizes the prisoner of war labor program, explains
the responsibilities of supervisors, discusses the production
record of the war prisoner, and examines the captive as an
individual providing both background on the prisoner and
suggestions on how he should be treated.4*

Also published for the "information and guidance of all

concerned" was Safe Work Practices for Prisoners of War (German).

This technical manual, written in both English and German, was
predominantly a listing of preferred safety and health precautions
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all activities. Directly aimed at the prisoners, this
blication also included the English and German 100 sentences and
fty common words with a German promunciation key.?5 With so
| TenTy rules, regulations and guidelines it is no wonder that same
farmmers and ranchers 1like Andy Olson felt a great deal of
frustration with the Army. 46

In spite of the red tape, farmers desired and needed the
prisoner labor. By September 30, 1943, the captive laborers were
reported as having ensiled 5000 tons and shocked 133 acres of
feed. County agent Walter O. Scott reported that "The prisoner
of war labor has been a godsend to the four-county area. It would
have been impossible to have saved the quantity of feed harvested
had it not been for this source of labor... It is sincerely hoped
by all farmers in this area that this camp could be made a
permanent camp." To make the camp at Council Grove a permanent
one, the Army needed to assume both the expense and administration
of the camp. This was not done.?’

While a permanent camp was never established, the branch
camp at Council Grove was activated for two additional periods.
The original camp closed November 13, 1943.

A request to re-establish the camp was submitted in early
July 1944, and opened August 30 with prisoners starting to work
on Septeamber 1. 100 prisoners manned this side camp. According
to Beverly D. Stagg, County Agricultural Agent, there were times
that the requests for laborers far exceeded the supply. Once

again the Farm Bureau Office handled the orders for the prisoners
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day. The camp was closed March 3, 1945.48

The Council Grove branch camp was activated one last time in
1945. An office clerk, Miss Emogene Sargent, was hired by
Morris County Agricultural Association and stationed in the
county agent's office to handle the labor requests. She also
eoordinated the daily placement of prisoners and transmitted these
requestsbothecamp The Farm Bureau purchased a one-ton truck
‘and used it to haul the prisoners over a regular route. A second
truck and driver were hired at the peak of the season. Farmers
. 1living close to the camp continued to provide their own
tfansportatim.

The requests for prisoner laborers exceeded supply in
October. This was common in every county in which camps existed
so no additional prisoners were available. With the end of
hostilities the number of prisoners available for work was reduced
due to repatriation. Army regulations required the closing of

prisoner of war labor camps on November 15, 1945.4°

g
1
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CHAPTER 4:

PRISONERS, FARMERS AND THE COMMUNITY

The defeat of Rommel's Afrika Korps in May 1943 resulted in

Z'the capture of thousands of men. These men, now prisoners, began
Fa lengthy trek by sea, train and truck to a variety of locales in
' the United States. Same of the captives were not Germans at all,
but were citizens of other countries impressed by the German Army
to relieve manpower shortages. Many of these men--Austrians,
Poles, Czechs threw down their weapons when they saw an American
soldier. Because they were captured in German uniform, however,
.. they were counted as German prisoners of war.®°

Once in America the prisoners were transported to base camps
established throughout the country. Fram these base camps some of
the captives went on to branch camps which were located in areas
determined to be suffering fram severe manpower shortages. And
s0, on August 29, 1943, 220 German prisoners arrived in Council
Grove. The Germans were unsure of what to expect in America. The
peocple of Council Grove greeted them with enthusiasm mixed with a
little apprehension, especially since it was the first branch camp
to be established.’l Soon the fears disappeared on both sides.

Monday, August 30, the enthusiasm the farmers had for the
help was demonstrated when a detail went to work at the K.T.
Anderson farm. George Atkinson was the first to sign a contract

for laborers in Lyon County,’? and Henry Rumold the second.
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who used prisoner labor during the first two days were Joe

J.G. Riely, Allen Hunter and William Tishhouser.

Demand for 1labor increased steadily until all
were contracted for.53

Once in the field the Germans proved to be willing and steady
workers. This was noted by J.G. Riely who was surprised by the

‘unount of work campleted in a half day. The Emporia Gazette

reported, "Greater interest in the use of the prisoners has been
stimulated by reports from farmers using them. They say that the
prisoners put in a good day's work and that they catch on easily
from instructions and demonstrations on how to do the work
assigned. "534

There were some dissenting voices. In 1944 the regulation
requiring guards to be present with all prisoners was rescinded.
This created a concern about laxity. According to an article in

the Emporia Gazette, some critics felt that the Germans were

"getting too much freedom." Mayor Ward of Peabody countered this
statement by saying, "I've had them (prisoners) at my house doing
painting and repairing, both with and without guards. They worked
better without guards."®> Others stated that the greatest
inconvenience in using the captive labor was the time and trouble
it tock to haul the prisoners from camp to farm and back. Later
on this was partially solved by the establishment of a truck route
which delivered the prisoners to the locations that were some

distance fraom the camp.3®
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Prisoners of war performed a variety of tasks for the area
ﬁarmexs and for the city of Council Grove. Same of the jobs
i:included street repairs, sewer construction, apple picking,
.;5 £111ing silos, making and baling hay, shocking cormn and sorghum,
combining sorghum, cutting hedge, broadcasting fertilizers,
f building farm bridges, removing drift and debris along streams,
building and repairing fences, digging cisterns, drainage work,
oocking sudan grass, and husking corn.5?
] When asked about the prisoners 40 years later, several of the
*‘ farmers recalled that the Germans were hard workers who learned
their jobs quickly. Carroll Wray remarked, "We were most pleased
/ with the prisoners that were assigned to us to use. They gave us
no particular problem and we were very pleased."%®
Saome had amusing stories concerning the language barrier.
Fred Walkup of Emporia recalled that the only problem he had in
working with the prisoners was that they wanted to pick up the
E rattlesnakes. The snakes were laying under bundles of grain and
when the bundles were loaded into the silage cutter the prisoners
would find them. Not realizing the danger, they would try to grab
them which frustrated Walkup because he couldn't speak German to
explain the danger. Eventually a hired hand who knew the language
arrived and explained that the snakes were quite poisonous.3?
The prisoners were not used exclusively for agricultural
labor. Same remained in the camp and performed tasks there.
Frank Daniels, a former guard, remembered that the prisoners did

the cooking for both the prisoners and the guards. Other
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worked for area businesses such as Fairmont Foods. Phil

foreman of the dairy department at the time, recalled

t the prisoners were employed in the poultry department. They
Were forbidden by Army regulation to work with food processing for

| 1tems such as milk because of the opportunity they would have had
poison it.6°

Even those residents who did not work directly with prisoners
oould recall incidents involving the captives. Betty Strom
¢ remembered that one day her employer, the manager of Fairmont
Fbods sent a crew of prisoners over to rake her yard. She wrote,
"My daughter Nancy was playing on the porch while the men were
working in the yard and some people were shocked as her father had

been killed in the Battle of the Bulge but to us they were just
; men who had been captured doing what they had to do."s?!

Former prisoners fondly remembered their internment in
America. Josef Oberfrank, intermed at Fort Riley, harvested
potatoes and picked cormn. He said, "Every day we had to go to a
different farm and I really thought it was funny only having to
work 8 hours a day, at home we worked 14-16 hours a day."
Oberfrank was also impressed with the food. Turkey was served for
holidays and white bread and fruit was available every morning.
He did not like buffalo or tuna fish. His fondest memories are of
the fair treatment he received and the good standard of living in
America.®? Heinrich Boeckman reminisced: "It was still better to
be a prisoner of war, safe, alive and by no means hungry!"¢3 Both

German and American, apprehensive at the beginning of the program,
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bed with pleasant experiences to loock back on.

To demonstrate the success of the prisoner labor program, the
ty agent kept track of the amount of work done. On September
, 1943, the local newspaper reported that 2,390 tons of feed had
placed in silos. Throughout the war, food production
In Kansas as in many other states a good deal of this
L ves credited to the assistance of the German captives.

k Because of the success of this experimental labor, the local
gantiment favored retention of the camp. In November, members of
. the Association requested the continuation of the branch camp.
' Once again the request had to travel the circuitous route for
; approval. The request was denied and camp was broken Sunday,
" November 14, 1943, and the prisoners returned to Camp Phillips.64

The shortage of agricultural labor so acute at the beginning

of the war persisted throughout. In May 1945 the BEmporia Gazette

ran an article titled "Kansas Farm Labor at Lowest Ebb in
History"¢> which noted that only 35 per cent of pre-war workers
were now available. With Germany's surrender, repatriation of the
prisoners began and this reduced the supply of manpower. The
article continued, "Prisoners of war, expected to occupy an
increasingly important place in the labor supply, dwindled in
numbers." Agriculture had to turn to other sources of labor.
"Food is a weapon of war as vital to victory as planes,
ships, tanks, guns, and a huge army and navy."®® German prisoners
contributed greatly to the American war effort where food

production was oconcerned. The prisoner of war 1labor program,
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ployed the prisoners formed fond memories of them and were
grateful for their help. Same considered them a "godsend."
Thomas Cosgrove expressed this sentiment, stating, "We were sorry
to see them go as they helped us when we were in dire need of
help." He continued, remembering, "One prisoner was quite
| Impressed with our black aruble cane. We considered this plant to
beapest. He tock a Prince Albert can full of the seed back to
Gezmany. I suppose by now it is a pest there."®? The German
prisoner took back more than a can of seeds. He returned to his
homeland with a deeper understanding of both America and his
" country. And in many cases he returned home leaving good friends
in a new country.

Because of good experiences using prisoner of war labor, men
such as Thomas Cosgrove, Andy Olson, and Carroll Wray gained a new
concept of the term "prisoner of war."

In addition to the success of the labor program itself, a
significant ocutcome was the amount of work actually accamplished.
A greater number of prisoners of war were used on farms during
World War II than in any other form of employment. Their work
prevented the 1loss of numerous crops and in several cases
increased production.é8

The success of the experiment in agricultural 1labor at
Council Grove exemplifies the greater accomplishment of the

program in the United States.
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Interview with Roe Groom

s is an excerpt from an interview with Roe Groom of Council

Kansas arxd the author, Tamsen Emerson, at his home, March 16,

: What do you remember about the German prisoner-of-war camp
here at Council Grove?

The prisoner-of-war camp, I saw them bringing them in there,
truckloads of them. They had it fenced off. It seemed kind
of queer to drive by and see these people sitting there
behind this fence. They were a pretty well behaved bunch ocut
there. They never gave any trouble. After they left I went
through there and somebody had painted pictures that looked
like little chapels and stuff in the Alps -- I suppose in
Bavaria or samething, of course they were here from Germany.
[The pictures were] between different windows and they'd have
the fellows name and serial number and his rank. Each one of
those pictures, I guess, was dedicated to each one of those
fellows.

This was in the barracks building?

Yes. Then they had an old rocking chair that one of them had

f made out of scrap lumber and mouse traps and things like that

they left there. They worked ocut there on farms. I know I

saw same of them ocut here in the country where I was hauling

gas. I took same ocut there. Same of them would work in the

orchard--one looked like he was about 18 years old working
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out there and he'd been in the Afrika Korps. That's where
most of them were from as far as I know. They seemed like
awful nice fellows-- easy to get along with. Of course the
rough ones, tough ones, were up there at Concordia--they were
really mean.

The officers I believe.

I guess they executed one of their own men up there you
know.

I've heard about that. Do you remember how they arrived when
they first arrived in 194372

They came in trucks--I saw them standing up there in trucks
when they drove through town. I saw two loads of them. I
don't know if there were any more than that or not. It was a
nice little camp out there, there were trees around there.
It had been an o0ld, what do you call it, CCC camp. It was
ideal for it and then they built this wire around it and
watchtowers. They had them work on the farms if they wanted
to. They didn't pay them very much I know, very little wage
and then they gave them a meal and said not to give them
anything extra, just about what they were used [to] in the
barracks. They were a well behaved bunch.

I understand they were here in August and then they left and
came back again in '44 for a period of time and then they
left and came back in '45.

All I knew about it -- I don't know whether they brought them
back and forth or not. I just saw them drive by when I was
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on o0il business. They said don't slow down, keep moving. I
don't know if they moved them out or not.
Did you personally work with any of them?
I took a bunch cut ane time for a fellow out here, a
rancher. His car broke down and I was taking same gas ocut to
him and he told [me] to ride behind with some--I think there
was about 6, no, 4 of them. We had two of them ride in the
cab with me and he had to ride on the back with two of them
on the tank. 1 was taking them out there to work for him.
Do you remember who that farmer was?
Andy Olson.
I'm going to talk to him later this afternoon.
I know they started talking, jabbering something, I couldn't
understand them of course. Finally one of them said, "How
many acre?" -- pointed over there. I said "Oh about 55,"
and he said "Ja, Ja," telling the other guy, I guess they'd
been arguing about it.
What kind of jobs did they do on the farms?
Oh all kinds of work. Same of them worked around where they
were putting up ensilage. I don't know what they did ocut at
Andy's, just farm work I guess. Just helping out around
there when he was cutting ensilage and so on, out here
[south] of town.
I was reading through the Council Grove paper and it said
samething about them being used by the city to do any work.
Do you remember anything about that?
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I don't know anything about that. There was one fellow out
there in the country by the name of Rhodes. [The prisoners]
went out there and did a lot of patching around that place
and fixing up. That was the kind of work [they did] out
there. That's the only kind of work I know about.
In '43 I know they brought them up fram Camp Phillips down by
Salina. Did you know anything about the difference in where
they came from?
No.
Once they came from Camp Phillips, and they came from Fort
Riley, later on.
This one down here, this one young fellow I was telling you
about, about 18, [who was] working in the orchard down there,
they had him down there helping. He came down with the guy
that owned the orchard. I know I was filling his tank or
samething there and he said "About full," he said, and I
said, "where did you learn to speak English?" and he said,
"Here in America." He was just about 18 years old.
Do you remember what kind of outfits the prisoners wore?
Generally the old floppy locking blue hat they had, cloth
hat, and a kind of jacket and it had PW on the back of the
jacket -- painted in big letters on the back of their denim
Jjackets I guess. Then it looked like blue jeans or samething
on that order.
Provided by the camp?
I think it was provided by the govermment.
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I had read samewhere that they could wear their Nazi
uniforms if they wanted.
These were all dressed out here just like that with a PW on
the back in real big letters. I believe it was on their
trousers too but I'm not sure.
Were there any incidences or anything that happened that
stands out in your mind with these prisoners?
They say ane of them escaped. Went down and [worked] down
south here somewhere. I don't know what the deal was but
finally a guy turned him in and said he didn't know he was an
escaped prisoner until later. Now that's rumors, I don't
know whether there's anything to that or not. He probably
got to asking for higher wages.
Well I read in the 1945 Republican that there was a PW
escape in November and that was after the war was over and
the camp was closing.
Maybe he wanted to stay after the war was over then.
I saw that he had escaped but it never said whether they had
found him or not.
[There was] one incident [where] there was same stuff
printed on it after they left. I saw it between the windows
written in German. I copied of the letters [just] 1like it
[was] there. A txoop train came through one time and I was
stopped for the train. A bunch [were] getting off and
exercising around there and I asked them if there were any
German speaking boys in this troop. He said yes and he
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called him over. I said, "What does this mean?" I handed
him this [printing] and he said "Along the Rhine I'd rather
live and not in U.S.A." That was printed ocut there.

On one of the pictures?

In the barracks, just printed on the barracks.

Do those still exist, those paintings in the barracks?
Pardon?

Does that building still exist out there?

No someane got that building and I think he painted them out.
They're all busted up now. That's one other thing that's
interesting. I found a picture ocut there [that] ane of them
had painted an a piece of paper. It was a girl and boy, just
their heads. I had it and kept it around here for a long
while and here about 2 or 3 years ago I ran anto it in a
bunch of stuff and sent it to my grandson in Seattle. He got
the note on that. He was going to write--it had the fellow's
address on there and everything, so he was going to write to
that place. He went down to a German lady, a neighbor, and
he wrote a letter and had her translate it into German and
sent it there. She said there [wasn't] one chance in a
thousand [that he'd] hear fram him [but] he did hear from
[him]. They wrote back and forth there quite a while.
Samebody told him now don't go to asking too personal
questions. He was in East Germany you see, so he couldn't
ask too personal questions. Last I spoke to him he said he
hadn't heard fram him lately, but he was going to write to
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him again. He sent him a picture of himself, this fellow
did, and they wrote back and forth there.

Would there be a possibility that he could make some copies
of those letters for us?

Our grandson?

Yes.

He might have. I tell you I'll write to him and find out.
How did the town and camunity feel about having German
prisoners here?

Having the prisoners here?

Yes.

Ch they didn't mind it. They didn't have any trouble. I
know one fellow worked out here north of town, Ted Lietke,
he's dead now, but anyway he said "They'd make good
Americans--they want higher wages."

Do you know how much they paid them or do you just know it
was a small amount?

Pardon?

Do you know how much they paid them?

I don't know. I don't remember just what it was. Just very
little in wage[s]. Maybe [they'd] make a dollar or samething
a day, I don't know just what it was.

Were each of the farmers responsible for picking their
prisoners up and getting them to their ranch?

When they took them out there wasn't any guard with them--
when they went out in the country to work. Let's see there
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wasn't any guard with them that time, so they must have been
trustees or something. I don't think there was any guard on

the back of that truck or I didn't see any anyway.

Gman Do you remember who the guys worked for? Samebody up

there around Alta Vista wasn't it?
Yes, they worked all around over the country here. I don't
think they sent a guard ocut with them all the time, only a
few of them once in awhile. Of course out north of town I
think they had a guard with them.
That's closer to Ft. Riley isn't it?
Alta Vista you mean?
Yes.
Oh it's just about 14 miles north of here.
I was reading samewhere that there was a 10 mile radius
around Ft. Riley that if you used prisoners you had to have a
guard.
Yes. I don't know, it seems to me that they had guards with
them some places, but the bunch I hauled ocut there didn't
have a guard with them. Those ocut east of town I don't think
there was a guard with them. They were working on that
fellow's farm but they were pretty well behaved. Then they
worked for a fellow by the name of Disburger out north of
town and he could speak German. He talked with them right
alang. Of course they could talk English too. He said that
Hitler was a very nice man, [according to them], but maybe
they thought they better say that if they were going back
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before long.
Do you recall anybody else that used the prisoner labor
besides Andy Olson and same of the others you mentioned?
Ted Lietke, of course he passed away about a year or so ago.
Then this Rhodes, I don't believe he's alive either--he lived
out east of town there. I don't know whether any of the
Whites worked any or not. The one that lived in the country
and runs the bank down there.
I talked to Hale, Hale White.
Ch did you?
I guess he was in the army at the time. He didn't remember
anything, very little he said.
I don't know who else did work them. About the only
experience I had with them was when I had to go ocut with a
load of gas and some of them were working there in two's and
three's. Four I believe, went down to Andy Olson's. There
were two in the cab and I think just two riding on the tank.
Is there anything else that you can recall about the Germans
that I haven't asked you?
There was something a minute ago but I forgot what it was
about. Same incident down there. ©h, one of the young
fellows was out working out there, a young man, a young
soldier I mean, and he called me one morning real early and
said he was down there where he wasn't suppose[d] to be and
wanted to know if I would came by the service station, which
I did. I asked him next morning about getting out of [the
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camp] and he said he told the Colonel [to] let him into town
to shave every morning and as soon as he got in there he said
"Please sir just give me some work to do, don't eat me ocut."
So they made him haul coal all that day in a wheelbarrow.
That's about the only thing I knew about. They didn't leave
much around there of course only like that rocking chair,
made out of a piece of wood.

Do you know what happened to it?

We had it quite a while and I think it finally fell apart.
Our son loaded it up and brought it in. Then he brought in a
mousetrap, a big cage like, that one of them had made.

So they kept busy when they weren't working?

Pardon?

They kept busy when they weren't working?

Oh yes, on something like that. I had pictures of some and I
sent that to my grandson and had him send it to that fellow
to see if he was in that picture. I took a picture of them
when they were having chow in the barracks there, the mess
hall. I sent that to him and I said maybe he'd want to send
it over to that fellow and see if he's in one of the
pictures. There were 10 or 15 you could see in the picture.
Those paintings were really samething, those little chapels
and stuff.

Wasn't there somebody in Alta Vista that wrote to them?

I don't know.

[We did know of one], I can't remember it all.
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There were same trustees down there I think.

Were they generally younger like in their 20's?

Pardon?

Were the soldiers or German prisoners younger, like in their
20's?

Same of them looked like they were in their 30's. Then there
was that young one down at the orchard. I know he must have
been halfway scared that fellow, [once] I said "Get in that
car,” and that kid jumped I'11 bet you two or three feet and
then jumped in that car when they were ready to leave--used
to taking orders I guess. That's the one that said he
learned to talk here in America. But a lot of them looked
like they were about in their 30's. I never saw any of them
very close, [would] just drive by there and they said not to
slow down or stop. They didn't want -- it would be kind of
fumny to see a guy standing up there, you know, an officer,
the barbed wire and these guys sitting along there south of
the barracks sumning themselves, sitting there like animals
behind the fence.

Did they have farming backgrounds?

I don't know, I expect they did. I imagine farming and
manufacturing. I don't know but I imagine it was just a
little of everything. It seemed like, those working out here
on the farms, seemed like they had experience. They probably
just called for anybody that wanted to work on a farm. Of
course Andy's ranch here just [south] of town was a farm. 1
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think there [were] two or three there working.

Thank you for your time.
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INTERVIEW WITH ANDY OLSON




:Er\erson:

Interview with Andy Olson

This is an excerpt fram an interview with Andy Olson of
zural Council Grove, Kansas and the author, Tamsen Emerson, at

 his home, March 16, 1983.

It was this ranch that you were an when you used the
German prisoners of war?

Yes.

When did you first use the German labor?

Dates I don't have. Go back to when the camp was first
opened here -~ they had them out at the old CC Camp
east of Council Grove. We had to make up a county
organization to use the German prisoners of war with
the army. It was a contract [we] signed that [said we]
really would be able to use so many prisoners of war,
and it runs in my mind [for] about 30¢ an hour. We had
the contract with the army that we would use them so
many man hours per month. Several fellas then in Morris
County used prisoners of war. I was president of that
organization at that time and I believe they were here
maybe three years.

I went through the Council Grove Republican and it

looked like they were here in '43, '44 and then '45.
It'd be about three years in my recollecti[on]. I'm bad
an dates. But what did you want to know, what method,
or how we used them?



Well sure. We'd like to know what they did.
Well we were ... course I said we had a contract with
the Army and we'd have to use [them] so many hours.

Did you get a copy of that contract or anything?

There was a contract sure enough -- with that
organization, on a county basis. I have asked a time or
two where those records are in the County Courthouse. I
don't know and I didn't have any. I don't know how many
was [sic] out there, maybe three-four hundred at the
top, might [have] been more. The method was that any
farmer that wanted to use them would make a request for
them and what day he wanted [them]. Usually the hours
were, I think we'd go get them a little before eight
o'clock so we could have [them] ocut to the farm by 8.
Then we'd have to have them back by 6. We would feed
them their noon meal here -- no and we didn't feed them
their breakfast nor supper. They had to be back in
there by, I think it was 6. There was sometimes a
special case where they could have them longer but the
Army regulations were pretty strict in that. Well a man
could go ahead and say he wanted six of them for any
specific date and the six would be there.

This included Sundays or did they work on Sunday?

No. No they didn't work on Sunday. I think we used them
six days, personally, myself. Then I used as much as
twelve at time. There was two boys that I had here for
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better than two years. One of them was a doctor's son
in Germany ard the other was a lieutenant colonel in the
German Army, his son. Those two boys were very
intelligent and they could speak enough English that we
could understand them and they got so they could do
anything. This was contrary to rules but there was days
that we wouldn't even be here [and] they knew what to
do and they would, they would do that. I thought very
highly of them and there wasn't -- their ethics was as
high as they could be. We used them most of two years.
We just treated them as one of the family. They treated
us that way.

There was a peculiar -- peculiarity, they would eat
most anything we'd serve them but corn.
Wouldn't eat corn.
They wouldn't eat cormm. They said that was food for
mice and rats, and hogs. So that was about the only
thing that they'd turn their nose up at. We had boys
here from Austria, Hungary, Poland and [of] course a lot
of Germans. I remember one Austrian came out here [we
were] handling bundles for silo and he came in dressed
in just a slim pair of shorts. Well we [were] handling
that feed [and] I said, "Well that won't work," I said,
"you'll cut your body." And he could understand a
little English and he said "not hurt as much as
bullets." And he sure enough worked all day and he was
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bleeding in places by night but he was very happy. We
found that most of the German prisoners were rather
happy to be a prisoner of war in America than they would
have been out there fighting. They said it was much
safer here and the American people sure treated them
well. We didn't have any bitterness toward them. They
didn't, very few ever showed any animosity or bitterness
to ‘the American people. 2And we found that they were
very, very nice people to get along with.

Did they ever talk about Hitler at all? Or were they
allowed to?

Yes. These two we talked with very freely, the two. I
asked them about that -- I said, "Don't you think you
was [sic] kind of wrong in starting this kind of war you
couldn't handle?" They said well, "What would you do7?7"
They said Germany was an industrial nation which we all
know it is. The Jews got a comer on the raw market.
And the Jews shoved the price of raw materials up to
where it was starving the industrial nation of Germany.
They couldn't survive. Take the raw material and make
it into a finished product and live with it. The Jews
had a cormer on the market. That was where it came in
according to their theory that they thought maybe it was
right because Germany, they were a mass of people, they
were killing them off -- just starving them ocut. Just
because they, the Jews, had a corner on the market. Now
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then, these two, same two boys, had spent about six
months in the city of New York as prisoner of war. They
were so honorable that they weren't held captive no
[sic] place. They had the free run to go wherever they
pleased. And that six months they were more or less on
the streets of New York. They told us about that and
they were a visiting people. Their ane remark was, they
said, you perhaps think in my words, you perhaps think
we're crazy when we tell you about why the war was
started. But he said, the United States would be in
that position some day. There will be a corner on the
market on some raw materials and you won't be able to
sell your finished product. And [he] said, you wait and
see, you'll be in the same position. Okay, today are
you sure we're not, isn't there samebody, same group
controlling a lot of things today?
It's samething to think about.
Them boys, the longer I live the more I think they more
I think they were right. Didn't we have an awful crunch
with 0il1? Because sameone got a corner on it? It's
very true today isn't it? This cil thing we had when it
went so high, the oil scare we had, caused an awful lot
of thing to go plum ocut of balance. That was what them
boys was telling me -- at that time it was the Jews
[doing] to Germany and he said, the Jews are going to,
the Jews get [a] corner on things and they will do
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anything they can just for a dollar.

This is really interesting.

The other thing that was interesting, when we used the
prisoners -- there was cockleburs in this county, more
so than today, and of course we handled a lot of our
feed by hand. Cockleburs, if you're not familiar with
them, they're a sharp burr and most of the time [the
prisoners] came dressed in a heavy army wear. Jackets
and shirts. Of course those cockleburs would stick.
One of them asked me what they were, I said "Oh, they
were English peanuts.”" Another of them says, "Mister,"
he said, "why not American peanuts?" He said, "We're in
America." That's what they called them, peanuts. There
was one boy fram Austria and I remember quite well he
was quite musical and he had won several awards in
opera in Austria. Austria is quite a nation for
classical music. He was one of the top fram out there
and here he was out here and he had to d same labor.
He said, "This don't fit what I want to do." But quite
a few of them could speak quite a little English. You
could understand them.

Could you describe what the camp was 1ike? I know a lot
of the bulldings are missing now, was it fairly large?
What their towns?

No, the camp here at Council Grove.

Ch, how large it was? That was built for the three C's
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and I think there might [have] been seven or eight
barracks at one time there. Those barracks I think are
close to 70 feet long and I believe 40 feet wide. I
believe there's one, two, I believe the mess hall's
still out there and two of the original barracks. But I
believe there was seven or eight of those barracks
besides the mess hall and then there was an officer's
building out there. But a going on back, that was a
three C camp, at one time. That's what the government
built it [for]. And then they, the Three C camp was
over with and then it was, then the government used it
for the prisoners of war. We had it under our
organization and then it was deeded to the county as I
recall. In turmn then the county made a county
fairground out of the 0ld CC camp. Today the original
camp part of it is a used for fairgrounds and the
balance is used for the county road crews.
Roe Groom was telling me about the inside of one of the
barracks being painted by the Germans. Did you ever see
that?
Yes, you see the German prisoners would give them same
paint or something, they would do that. They didn't
have nothing to do, really. They were wanting to do
things. The odd thing about that was [that] we as
civilians couldn't give them a thing rightly, we
couldn't. We couldn't even give them a matchbox. They
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couldn't even take a penny back or anything like that.
Strictly nothing. And in turn, why then they couldn't
ever take anything that they received. So if the
government or samebody would furmish them some paint or
something 1like [that] then they would paint or
something. Now to verify that point, I don't have it
right here, but they toock a bunch of, oh they'd [get]
some, of lot of time there was same boxes of supplies
[that] would care in. Same wooden boxes and they made a
me some little animals [that] they carved out of that
wood and left them here with me. I couldn't ever let
anybody know that they gave them to me because that was
against Army regulations [and] they would put them in
solitary confinement if they knew that. We weren't
supposed to even smile at them as far as the Army was
caoncerned.

Were there any guards with them?

Out here? No.

In town?

In town, yes. There [were] same guards there, but at
canp. No ocut here why we'd go cut and get them in the
morning in whatever wehicle we wanted and then we'd
bring them back. And a thinking about this, about the
Army, from one home why the lady sent them back some
cake and one of[them] happened to show up and liked this
cake so well he didn't want to eat it all. He was so
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proud of it. The guard caught him with this cake and
Just made a whale of a to—-do out of it. Just because he
had a piece of cake he brought in there. They could eat
whatever they wanted to but couldn't have it in their
pocket or ocouldn't have it in their hand. That was
Army regulations.

What were same of the other regulations that you could
remember -- rules or limitations on anything that had to
do with them?

Well, really I guess the basic would be that you could
cane and get them to work and the clothing they're in,
that's the way they worked. We weren't even allowed to
give them a pair of gloves after they'd get here.
According to regulation, we weren't allowed to give them
anything see. They were to take back nothing. We were
to get them at a certain time of the morning, deliver
them back at a certain time of the [evening], and a we
[were] to feed them while we had them. But as far as
anything passing between them and an American who would
work them why, that was nothing.

You said that there were two that you used for two
years. Now were the other ones, you said you used
twelve, so the other ones -- were they the same ones all
the time? Everyday did you get the same ones?

Well the folks who used these prisoners of war, there
were a few families in Morris county used them quite a
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little, and just thinking off the top my head, I used
them quite steady. White used them quite steady, Walter
Porter's used them quite steady, B s used them quite
steady, and then there was a few others had them but
there probably wasn't a dozen farmers that used them
very steady. We hoped to get them back, if we were
working with say three or four, something like that,
then you'd probably get those same three or four back.
But if you said you wanted three or four one day and
then you went up to six or seven the next day, that
would be a new bunch.
So you used them everyday during the time that the camp
was here?
Yes. But these two, we just about used them everyday
and of course work like that was seasonal. The biggest
rush was in the fall and the biggest rush was in the
spring.
Do you remember the names of those two at all?
Maybe I'll think of it for its over with. But right now
I, I can tell you what they loocked like, but names is
something I can't.
What did the neighbors think about the prisoner labor?
Out here in this particular neighborhood it was very
well accepted, many of the neighbors arourd here used
them and I don't know of any animosity among the
neighbors ocut here. Now then, I can see where there
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would have been if there would have been a family who
had just lost a boy or samething like that. Then they
would carry that animosity but in this particular area
they were used quite a bit and there's only one or two
boys that had lost their life over there. Then maybe
this comunity perhaps, at that time, probably had a
little broader view on things than what some communities
do have. That might not hold true every place see.
Can you recall any outstanding things that happened, any
incidents that might, beside the corm, you know, that
bear on your mind?

Well, vyes, yes I can. One of them of course was when
they told us how cane the war was started. Another
thing was that, going back [to] when I moved down here,
the CC camp was going and I had same conservation work
done by the CC camp. These Germman prisoners of war
followed ten years. These two boys I was speaking
about, they had worked in a similar work camp in
Germany. Comparable to the Three C here. They tried
their best to let, have me let them put up, they put up
log dams in Germany. In this country when they wanted
to dam up samething they used dirt, they used concrete,
they used woven wire see. They wanted me to go ahead
ard let them put in a log dam like they do in Germany.
They had done that several times. Well, I didn't 1let
them, but they knew everything. The thing I was trying
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to impress was that they ran a camp that was very
similar to what was here in the United States. And they
were doing the same things -- the conservation work. So
they knew what it was all about. The other thing, I had
them shucking cormn. Many days I wouldn't be here. We
had one team they'd take care of, and they were always
so afraid they were going to hurt the team or samething
like that. They were very, very careful. Those two
boys, to my knowledge, I don't remember of ever breaking
anything.  They were very, very conscientious, very
careful, and you didn't ever have to worry if they were
busy -- didn't care whether you were here or not, they
would always keep busy.

Did any of them express the desire to stay in the United
States?

Yes, many of them did. Okay now you put it down and
figure it out. Maybe a third of them said they would
like to be in the United State. Some of them had been
married and of course they were anxious to get back.
And it's just the same now as it was then, this isn't
quite as crowded as Germany is you know. They always
couldn't understand how come there's so much space, and
so that always, they, just 1like anybody, well 1like
anybody that's crowded, would like to have a 1little
more elbow room and that's what they were thinking
about.
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Do you know of any of them that stayed? They had to go
back, but any that returned to the area?
One boy, I didn't work him. The one boy worked for
Morrison down here and he went, after the war was over
he went back and then he came back in this area again
for a while. And I believe he became a naturalized
citizen. He came back here and visited again. He had
worked here and down at the neighbors --the Morrisons.
Did he settle in this area -- is he still here?
No, no the last I knew, he was up in Minnesota the
northern country.
Did you ever hear from any of them?
Yes I did. Sure did. And I was lax, I'm not one to
write -- I should have. Yes, there was probably, oh
half a dozen wrote back after they went back. Kept in
touch for a little while and sent me a little card or
samething.
You didn't keep those did you?
No, I don't think they're here anymore. I did keep them
for a while but I don't have them [any] more.
Two questions. First, what was their feeling when the
war ended and they were still out here in 19457 Were
they disappointed or..?
Well you'd think, boy they'd be happy as heck an all but
as a matter of fact, I guess they, when they left that
country over there everything was upside down, very
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uncertain, and here they were treated well. So what it
amounted to, they were, rather seriously, I think they
were rather satisfied with their status in life, because
you know it had been on the level for a while. And
anybody wants to go hame but when they left home it was
such a turmoil they really didn't know what to expect.
I think [that] was their feeling. So as a whole, 1
think they didn't know what they wanted to do. They
knew what they had to do. So they had to go back. But
you never heard any of them that was ocut here say they
hoped this blamed war was over with so's they can get
home. It wasn't that way. And it probably goes back in
their earlier childhood when they were growing up, when
I said this crunch was put on see, Germany you know was
pretty unsettled and [there was] probably a lot of
anxiety. And the kids probably grew up in a lot of
anxiety. And frankly, hasn't the young people in the
United States been in that thing here and it probably
was worse five years ago than what it is today.
Do you recall when the camp closed in 19457 What time
of year it was?
What time of year? Well I'd have to say it was in the
fall. Perhaps around, it was probably around in
November .
Well that's what I have. I went through the paper to
get same background, there was news in that pretty
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frequently. They mentioned samething about on November
5th a prisoner escaping fram the camp. Do you recall
samething like that?
Well no. I think maybe there, I do recall that it
wasn't a very big to do. Probably the papers made more
of it then -- he probably just walked away for a while.
And I don't really remember the details on it. To me it
was probably incidental and it didn't make any
impression on me.
I saw that on the 5th and then on the 6th it said that
the sheriff thought that samebody might have picked him
up at the Admire Junction and then there wasn't anything
else in the paper after that.
After you say that I do recall that all right but other
than that why I didn't think much about it.
Was there a big to-do when they left?
No. It'd be just the same, probably like on a Army base
today. They decided to go ocut to the field and one day
of the week and they went then and nobody else paid any
attention to it. They just went. The biggest to-do we
had was within cur own organization. As far as that was
concerned was towards the end of it there wasn't too
much, farmers didn't use them as much. It was getting
late in the season, and the Army wanted us to pay for a
lot of extra time. We wrangled over that within the
organization against the Army for I think that probably
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went over into January and February. And the Army
wanted us to give them a lot of money and we decided we
weren't going to. They finally all stuck with me and we
didn't pay at all.
What was the name of the organization?
Morris County Prisoner of War, I believe.
And you were the president. Who were same of the other
members?
Well, let's see. I, you asked me samething maybe I
don't remember. Walter Olson at Dwight was one of the
leaders, Clarence White I believe was treasurer, here in
town. Oh let's see, Jim Lindgren was active in it, he
lived [was] a neighbor over here. Morris Dow, he was
one that was very active in the prisoner of war deal.
Oh, I think maybe, I can't remember the officers,
Clarence White was the treasurer, I remember that. I
think maybe Walter Olson of Dwight was vice-president, I
was president of it.
Was there a clerk ocut at the camp? Any civilian
employees out at the camp?
No. Out at the camp that was all army.
Just all Army.
You bet you. They kept all of that, you bet.
I read somewhere that if you used any of the laborers
close to Ft. Riley that you had to have gquards. Did
that include anybody here in Morris County?
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No, they used same prisoner of war labor up in Geary
County, up in Junction City there was same of that
used.

What about cooperation between Morris County and Lyon
County? I know that same of the Lyon County farmers
used war laborers.

From here?

Fram here.

Well you see, the canp was only about 7 miles fram the
Lyon County line. And this was set up for farmers to
[get] help see. Well it was quite close. Casey's lived
right on the edge of Lyon County, I know they used them
and there were some more. I as president, or the local
people here of this organization see, we didn't know
very much that went on as far as the camp was concerned,
that was Army. And they'd keep that stuff all to
themselves. Because they don't think we knew too much-
- the Army people don't think we as civilians know too
much really. And so we didn't know too much about that.
All we [did] was meke a contract with the Army to use
them boys a certain number of hours at so much per hour.
And we were supposed to live up to our part of the
contract that [was what] the Army was interested in.
How did you find out, did the Army contact the county
and say we have these German prisoners or did you ...?
I'm, I'm not sure about how, chances are it came down

76



probably through the Extension Service. I presume
that's maybe where they came. I'm not sure of that.
The first year that they had them I believe they were
here beginning in August and they left in September of
'43 and then they were out here again I believe, in
March of '44 and stayed for a little while and came back
again in the fal1?

Well I don't remember exactly but like I said, our usage
was in the fall and then in the spring and sumer. It
very well could be that, I don't remember that maybe
through the winter months they might not have had them
out, they might have put them sameplace else. But I did
have these two boys about two full years.

I know that the reports say, that I've been able to look
at, the first year they came up they brought them ocut of
a base camp from Salina -- Camp Phillips. And then they
next two years they came over from Fort Riley. Did you
know anything about that?

Well, about the only thing I know, these two boys I had
so long, I did visit with them a lot. They said they
were in New York see, and they were transferred I think
they said down to Fort Leonard Wood and then they ended
up here at Fort Riley and then from Fort Riley I think
they came here.

So you probably had them the last part of the two years
instead of the first part?
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They'd been prisoners of war quite early in the war.
They'd spent a lot of time, they'd even been down, these
two boys had also been down to Louisiana, in New
Orleans. They'd been several places in the United
States. I think they'd probably went there first, but
then they were captured rather early and they had spent
a lot of time in the United States before they came cut
here.
Roe Groom sald something about most of them being from
the Afrika Korps, fram fighting in Africa in the war.
Do you recall anything about that?
Well no, I don't know where they were captured. No I
really don't know.
They never talked about that?
Not a lot. &And if I did ask them I probably didn't pay
much attention to it.
There was a lot of rationing of supplies during the war,
did you get extra supplies to feed them?
No, we fed them.
You didn't have to get extra rationing supplies?
No, no the farmer was to feed them their noon meal.
So you just made lots more than normal?
Seriously you weren't supposed to, according to the
army, you were supposed to give them their noon meal but
you weren't supposed to do, fact you weren't supposed to
do them any favor period. That's what they told you.
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Was there any barbed wire or fence around the camp of
any kind? That you can recall.?

I don't remember if they had, I'd presume perhaps they
did. Yes they did but I can't remember enough to
describe it, but they did have a fenced area.

I heard that there was one day your car broke down or
something and Roe Groam had to help you haul the
prisoners out here. Do you remember that?

No I don't. I knew Roe Groom well and anytime he'd do
me a favor -- he'd do me a favor and 1'd do him a favor.
I don't really remember.

He seemed to recall samething about somebody else had to
ride in the back end of the pickup with the other ones.
I don't recall that.

Is there any thing else that you can think of about
these prisoners that would be of interest?

Well, seriously, I don't have any animosity against the
German people like same folks do. After I heard these
two boys tell me about why it was the war was started,
and I could see that now. Now the method how presumably
Hitler done these things I don't, I don't agree with.
But as far as the nation trying to get ocut from under
the grip of that thing I don't think you can blame them
for that.

Were they loyal to Hitler? I mean did they respect the
man?
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I don't think [it] is 1like we read in the papers, like
there is a respect for him like that see, I think these,
and just these two boys, I don't think respected him for
what he done. But he was their leader, he knew what
their cause was, and he was trying to get it right.
Well, so that's what it really amounted to was that they
probably admired him and thought he was doing the right
thing. Of course they were at odds at same of the
methods by which he was doing same of these things.
Were they aware of same of the atrocities that were
going on in their country against the Jews?

Yes, they were and they didn't condone it. And that
thing, that, didn't make them feel good. They were
treated so good here see, and some of their own people,
same like what they would have been, the ones that
Hitler was after, seriously, was their enemy really.
And so what it boiled down to in my thought was that
they didn't think that [it] was right that Germany
treated their enemies as bad. They didn't think they
should have done all they done see. So they weren't
happy about that. On the other had too, they didn't
have much to say about it.

You said you could tell me what those two boys looked
like, why don't you describe them?

Okay. They were both average height, I1'd say around
five and five foot eight or nine. One of them was
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probably slender build -- he probably weighed about 150.
He was the son of a colonel, a career man in the German
army. And the other boy was a little heavier build
probably an inch shorter and a stockier build. Both of
them were real clean shaven all the time. Immaculate in
their dress. Real good in their speech you know. They
didn't have harsh words, they were well-chosen words
whatever they spoke. And they weren't boys to just
chatter and run off at the mouth. They were very
serious, deep-thinking boys, matter-of-fact, I sure
admired them. Maybe I'll think of their names and send
it to you.

Is there anything else about them, the camp in general,
or the organization that you were president of that you
would like to add?

As a people, the people here as civilians, we thought
that the Army in their rules and one thing and another
[against] these boys was rather harsh. They just didn't
trust them no time. And we didn't have guards here,
[any] time they were ocut here. Probably as many as five
or six hundred ocut there would probably work at one time
and [had] no guards. And one boy I guess did walk away
towards the end of the camp. Well you send these kids
out, the farmer would send them ocut there, I could be
here and they could be a mile away and they had to be
very honorable and they were no trouble see, and one kid
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was probably in there, I'm just saying, I think he was
in that camp, he got bored, and he walked away.
Wanted to explore a little bit.
Well, yea. Or got tired of his surroundings see.
Did they have to do any chores around camp? Like did
they have to cook the meals?
Oh ves, there was, yes I'm sure cause if they did
something too much why they'd talk about it, why they'd
get on K-P. It would be strictly Army regulations in
that respect. Seriously, as far as our county
organization was concerned we had far more trouble with
the officers in charge of the camp than we ever had with
any of the prisoners. Simply because the thought that
we as civilians had see, didn't tie together with your
strict amy 1life. So we as civilians here had lots
more trouble getting along with the personnel, the Army
personnel in that camp, than we did of all the German
prisoners.
The paper said that the city wanted to use the prison
labor at one time and this created problems didn't it?
Well see they, it's just like a government regulation.
They were sent out here to do agricultural work. Well,
there was work all over. Well in the city it [wasn't]
agricultural work. So the word agriculture kept them
fram it.
Did they ever get it straightened out so that they
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could, I think it was digging a ditch or samething like
that -- of that nature.
I don't recall but I know that many times there'd be a
city or something like that want to use them see but
this was agricultural work and that's what the boys were
supposed to do. As a matter of fact, the main thing,
the biggest thing we thought of at that time was the
raising of food. We had to have food for our peocple and
have to have food for the army. And that was what the
whole United States was geared to raising food see, so
these boys were to help raise food.
How old were you at the time? During the war?
Well I [was] born in 1912 so I guess 12 fram 43 would be
30, 41 ...
Thirty? You had your family and ...
Yes, at that time I had the one girl. My second
daughter was born way late.
Oh. So since you were a farmer then you didn't have to
go into the service?
Of course 1 was drafted. 1 had to sign up but no, I
wasn't taken because at that time they ran it according
to units and if your farming had so many units you were
more essential to raise food than what you were to go to
the Army. So I was farming and had the set-up here and
we had a local draftboard that would tell who went and
who didn't. In no way was I eligible, and I didn't care
83



to go. Just as well be frank, I didn't care to go.
Okay, nothing else you can remember about the prisoners
or anything then, anything outstanding besides what
we've already covered.
Well, no. Oh I could tell about hauling them back and
forth but it was all rather quiet. Them boys would do
what you asked them to do. You'd go get them, you'd be
there on time, and they -- I never had any trouble but
same of the other folks they would think so highly of
them boys they would want to treat them see. They did
have guards and when they came back why they'd more or
less search them see, if they had a cigarette, they'd
take it from them, if they had a piece of candy they'd
take it away fram them. And they'd give the farmer hell
for doing it. Which to us farmers out here, [we]
thought it was rather small, insignificant. The Army
didn't think so.
Could you just describe a typical day -- what it would
have been 1like. Did you get out there and work with
them at any time?
Well yes. A typical day would be if you were busy.
We'd, I don't know if you're familiar, you're probably
not familiar with the way they used to fill silo?
No.
Well at that time, in that era, why silage was a lot of
handwork. There wasn't many tractors at that time, but
84



a few. You'd put your silage crop in a burdle and then
you'd have to load it on what we called a hay wagon or
rack wagon, and haul it up to what we called a Inchley's
cutter, where you'd throw one bundle at a time in a
Inchley cutter and it would chop it and throw it into
the silo. Well the most work they [did], a lot of the
work they [did] was handwork. Well that's way different
than now. Everything's mechanized, you don't hardly
touch it. Well, come on back into the woman's world, a
long time ago they used to make bread why of course a
fellow was there he'd wrap all that bread, well now heck
a machine throws all the ingredients together and wraps
it all ad sends it ocut, and a truck hauls it. We was
in the era where we'd do things by hand. The other
thing they [did], they would chop wood for people, they
would cut weeds for them, they'd build fence. Yes, you
had to have someone with them. You had to have sameone
with them to tell them how you wanted it done, to be a
leader in the work force. And you would have to work
with them. We found that [with] very few exceptions,
the prisoners of war were real good if somebody showed
them, they'd do it. They weren't, they aren't a lazy
people. Very few of them would shirk. Within our
organization, we had it agreed with the Army if we got
someone that [was] say lazy or no good, why we could
request that they be replaced by another prisoner. So
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our county organization more or less held the whip hand
in that respect. The boys we had were supposed to be of
the higher level, and I think they were. There was very
few that we had to ask to be replaced, they were high
caliber people, they were, they would work. And we
asked the boys about that, how cane. They said this was
so much better life than that they'd been used to, and
if they had to be in the war, had to be someplace, this
was the place they'd like to be. So they were happy in
their environment. I guess I'd be, if you want me to
pick ocut things that was wrong with it, I guess I'd be
a poor person to ask. And that would go for the rest of
the people that worked them. Seriously they were
surprised and they were pleased that those people would
cane and work under these conditions here and be as
happy as they were, and try to please.
Did they ever sing any songs while they were working?
Oh they would, they would sing songs, you bet they
would, and in their German tongue. Well of course if
you had more than one Pole why they'd do it. Or if
there was same Austrians, they would.
Were you ever able to serve them beer or amything like
that?
Oh no. Army regulations, all you give them was same
food. It boiled down to this, the Army told you to give
them samething that was healthy for them and good for
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their welfare, but never go out of [your] way to please
them. That's about what the Army said, never go out of
the way to please them. They would carry them out a
treat in the afternocon like that. All well and good but
the Army didn't 1like that. That's why I say we had more
trouble with the persomnel, the Army persarnel, than we
did have with the prisoners. Okay, this is what it
amounted to. The Army thought, the Army more or less
thought they were, hell, they were a drag. And we
people ocut here were so surprised that we could get so
much out of them, at such a small cost and they would
invariably do so much, we were just pleased as punch
see. That's why we were at odds with the Army, more or
less.

Supposing that we would be in that kind of a situation
again, you would be all for using prisoner labor for
help or would it be as necessary now?

Well it's a different ball game today. At that time, it
was an awful lot of handwork. Well today on the farm
it's just like it is on the street department we'll say
in town. A long time ago we used to see them using a
lot of brooms in the street and a few other things to
pick up trash. Today it's all mechanized isn't it?
Okay. Well today then if we went and had this labor,
they wouldn't be trained to use ocur tractors, to use our
combines, so it'd be a different ball game. But as far
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as the animosity and the thoughts like that why, those
kids didn't want to get in there to kill anybody. They
were forced in there. So, to your question I guess if
we could use them to the advantage we used them at that
time, why yes we would. But I don't believe the
opportunity is there today like it was then.

Okay, well I think that pretty well sums up everything I
needed for the German prisoners of war. If you think of
anything else I'd be pleased to hear about it. ... Thank
you very much for your time, I've enjoyed it.

Well, not as much as I enjoyed it.
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Interview with Fred Walkup

This is an excerpt from an interview with Fred Walkup of
ia, Kansas and the author, Tamsen Emerson, at Plumb Hall,
poria State University, April 8, 1983.

We are going to talk about the German prisoners of war
that were in this area during World War II. I suppose
I could just start out by asking you where you worked
with them?

On the George Atkinson ranch. In the year of [19]44 I
believe, the fall of '44.

Where is or where was the George Atkinson ranch?

North and west of Bushong.

About how many miles is that from Emporia?

Well, that's about 20 miles north and west of Emporia.
You get on 56 highway and then you go west two miles.
Then you'll go back south about % mile, then west about

’ % mile and it takes you right into the Atkinson ranch.

E: Is George Atkinson still alive?

W: No, he's passed away.

E: How big of a ranch did he have?

W: Well [it] wasn't very big but we leased out lots of
pastures.

E: How many prisoners did he employ?

W: There were, I would say, about 8 or 10.

E: And this was pretty regularly through that year?
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No. It was just to fill silos with.

Just to fill silos.

Just used them to fill silos. Pick up the feed that was
on the ground and put it on the trucks and wagons and
then they would take them in and put it through the
silage cutter. The trouble we had with them, most of my
trouble was, that they wanted to pick the rattlesnakes
up.

They wanted to pick the rattlesnakes up?

I would say that they were very deadly poisoncus.

I know I stay away fraom them.

So that's the main trouble that we had but more than
they we didn't have any [trouble].

It's interesting. I've never heard the rattlesnake fact
before.

See, they would be laying under these bundles.

The bundles were spread ocut flat on the ground you see.
They did not know what they were and so... I couldn't
understand because I couldn't speak German but we did
have a man that could. I went and got him and brought
him down there and he told them so then they knew they
were [poisonous] ... Then we took them in and fed them
their dinner. We ate dinner right along with them. The
only thing they would not eat was corn.

Now I've heard this before.
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[They thought] that [it was] for pigs and cows. But
they were all good workers and they were real nice to
work with.

Did you help? You had to go to the camp to pick them up
in the mornings?

No. They brought the boys out.

They brought the boys out?

And they took them back to camp at night.

Now, were there guards with these?

No, no guards.

No guards.

No. Now the first year I think there [were]. But the
second year there [were] no guards.

And you said that was in 19447

Yes.

Do you remember what they wore?

Just the right kind of clothes. Just the same, just
Jjeans.

Did they have anything painted on their clothes?

No, they were just plain clothes.

What did you expect when you started working with them?
Well I knew that I couldn't speak their [language]. [I]
did know that they couldn't understand me, but I thought
that I could go through the motions. But they couldn't
quite understand that and that's when I went and got
this other fellow that could speak German. I didn't
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want any of them getting bit by those snakes.
And none of them did get bitten?
No, we lucked out there.
That was lucky.
Yes. Powers, him [sic] and I worked together for
several years and his wife could speak German, and when
we came to dinner of course she would help with dinner
and she would tell us what they would say and she would
really practice then.
Well, that helped.
It did.
I know Andy Olson said that he had several that could
speak English and they discussed things pretty
frequently.
Now these boys, none of them could speak English. They
all spoke German. That's about all I know.
Well, let's just think of some things. Who was the lady
that translated for you?
That was Mrs. Elmer Schlesener.
Schlesener. Okay. Did they ever talk about anything
else that she ever translated at dinner?
No. They mostly ate because they were hungry. Then
when they got through they thanked the wamen folks and
went out side.
They were pretty well-mannered.
Oh yes. Of course we had to have plenty of water to
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drink. We watched them pretty close to make sure that
nobody got too hot. Otherwise, we got along real fine.

How long was the work day?

We usually started about 7 o'clock and ended about 6pm.

Then you just fed them the noon meal?

They liked it.

Did you ever go ocut to the camp?

Not while they were there.

Did you know how much they [were] paid?

No. I never did know.

Never knew? Are there any other people that you worked
for that might have worked with the prisoners -- that
you can recall?

Elmer Schlesener. It is a kind of hard place to find.
He is north of Bushong. I've been there just once. I
got lost.

Do you know any other Lyon county farmers that might
have used them?

No. Not that I remember.

Do you recall about how long in 1944 that you worked
[with] them? A month?

No.

Not that long?

I would say not more than three or four days.

That was all.

Yes.
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I had seen George Atkinson's name in the Gazette a lot.
He was working with the POW's out here. Did he ever
talk about how he got them?

No. I don't know how he ever contacted them. If he
talked to someone or just how.

That has never been different. I've heard, and he also
said, that he had to go and get them from the town.
They brought them out on a truck.

I recall hearing samething -- was it a special group
that just did it for the farmers that got the prisoners?
I really don't know.

How did the people of Emporia feel about having German
prisoners around?

I don't know.

You weren't here.

No. We didn't came down until 1955.

What was the attitude in Bushong then? Or did people
know?

They didn't care. Of course it isn't a very big town.
The population was only 150 or 175.

Do you remember any individual prisoners that you worked
with? Any that stand ocut in your mind?

No.

How old were they?

I would say they were in their twenty's. Maybe 32.

You said that they were all good workers. Did all of
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them know what to do or did you have to teach them?
No, they seemed to know what to do. They knew how to
pick up them bundles ard load them on the txuck.
Have you heard fram any of them, or [did] Atkinson hear
fram any of them after they left?
Not that I know of. I don't think so, at least he
didn't say anything.
Did you ever see them carving or anything like that?
No.
I understand that they did a lot of things like that in
the Great Plains. I was just wondering if you had seen
any of it.
No. I was there just a short time.
None of them tried to escape? Or were they a pretty
happy group?
They were just like one of us.
That was good.
They just fit right in to place.
In 1945, just before the end of the war, do you remember
anything about when they left?
No. We had quit famming. Our farthest pasture was 12
miles fram the ranch. We were scattered pretty well
out. It made it a lot easier for us. We just couldn't
do everything.
I know it takes up too much time. Do you know if any of
them may have returned to the United States?
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Not that I know of.

I know there has been one or two that we have found. We
are trying to find ocut if there are any more out there.
Sure.

You said that they didn't talk very much. So you don't
know if they talked very much about their feelings about
the war?

No. They didn't say very much.

They just worked and ate.

Right. They would fend for themselves.

Did it ever seem like they were singing songs while they
worked or anything like that?

No.

So there is nothing else that you can tell me?

Not that I know of.
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Interview with Carroll Wray

This is an excerpt fram an interview with Carroll Wray and
the author, Tamsen BEmerson, at City Hall in Council Grove,
iT*Xansas, March 16, 1983.

f;E‘l-::merson: You're mayor of Council Grove. How long have you been

mayor?
I have been mayor of Council Grove, at the present
time, ending my sixth year and I'm up to be re-elected
or not elected in April.
Well I hope you're re-elected. Could you tell me about
the picture that is hanging in the hallway here at City
Hall? [reproduction see appendix A.]
The picture that I asked you to lock at was given to me
recently by Mr. Phil Winter, Assistant County Attorney
in Lyon County. It is a picture that shows the old
Triple C Camp and the place where the prisoners-of-war
were kept while they were in the Council Grove area.
I found out that the first camp, the first prisoner-of-
war camp, was established in August of 1943. Do you
recall anything about the first time the prisoners came
into the area?
Really I can't give you any comment on that. I really
don't recall. I'm sure that when they were placed here
as prisoners-of-war that it did create a new atmosphere
in our comunity, that we had prisoners-of-war and
perhaps it even created some apprehension in the
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commumnity.

Do you recall feeling apprehensive about these men?

No, I personally did not but I'm sure that some who may

have lived close to the camp probably were apprehensive.

Okay, that brings up a thought. There wasn't a fence

around the camp. Were people afraid that they might

escape or anything?

One has to speak for himself. I would assume that

without a fence [or] that type of retention, I would

assume that people were a little apprehensive.

Do you recall any guards at all being cut here with the

prisoners?

I don't personally recall any guards. I'm sure there

were some.

You said when we were chatting that you lived on a farm

north of Council Grove at this time. Did your family

have any prisoners out there to help with the labor?

When I comment about living on a farm northeast of

Council Grove, this was after my marriage to Bernice and

we were farming. We did, on a few occasions use

prisoners-of-war to help us with ocur farm work.

What specific types of farm work did you have them

doing?

I can recall of having [them] help to put up hay at that

particular time. Probably the hardest problem that I

had to cope with on using the prisoners-of-war was the
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regulations about using them. We would have to pick
them up at 8 o'clock in the morning and have them back
to the prisoner-of-war camp by 5 p.m. This, on a farm,
was kind of bad hours and interrupted whatever we were
doing. I had no problem with any prisoner-of-war that I
had. If they were able to do what I asked them to do,
they did it willingly.
Was there any problem with the language?
To a point there was. Most of them that I had could
speak English. Their English was probably not as fluent
as mine but we were able to talk to each other and
understand each other.
Were there other regulations that applied to the use of
the prisoners?
I dn't recall any. I'm sure that we were expected not
to abuse them or not put them on to same menial job that
would degrade them. I think we were expected to show
respect to them and I tried to do that.
How did you go about getting the help?
If I can recall correctly it wasn't any complicated
situation. We would place a call to the prisoner-of-war
camp to a certain person there and identify myself and
ask for one or two men and they would set that up for me
to came down and get them the following morning.
You just went right down to the camp? About how far did
you have to drive then to pick up the prisoners?

101



From our farm to the camp would have been roughly six or
seven miles one way.

How much did you have to pay the prisoners?

We paid them nothing. They were simply glad to come out
and be helpful. We didn't pay them anything. After the
war was over we did get several 1letters from these
people thanking us for giving them the opportunity to
meet us, to work with us, to learn ocur ways.

You didn't save any of those letters did you?

I'm sorry to say we don't know where they are.

You said you used about one or two. Did you get the
same prisoner every time you went down there, or were
they different each time you used them?

I didn't get the same prisoners each time. Now I wasn't
a regular employer, I just asked for somebody to help me
on a special farm pass and so I would take whoever they
would assign to me.

Were they younger men or older?

They were adults. I would be guessing at the age but
the prisoners that we had were, I would say, in their
early 20's.

You mentioned a friend of yours saying that they didn't
like the corm. Why d&n't you relate that story.

I have visited with other area people who did use the
prisoners-of-war and Mr. and Mrs. Les Wilson were one
couple that I visited [with]. Mrs. Wilson, at one of
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the meals, the noon meal, [would be a meal that we were
required to give the prisoners-of-war.] She had
prepared some roasting ears for the meal and the
prisoners declined to eat it. Apparently over in
Germany corn was meant to be used in raising animals.
So they wouldn't touch the corn.
That was my understanding. I would rather that you
would ask Mrs. Wilson to enlarge on that a little bit.
Your wife, I'm sure, had to fix meals for these men too.
Did she recall any incidences with them?
Not off hand, I don't believe we can recall anything.
We had simple country dinners. I don't recall anything.
What about the uniforms that they wore? Do you recall
anything? Did they wear their Nazi or German uniforms
or did they wear what the camp supplied them?
They were not in military uniform. I can't recall what
they wore but it was not military uniform and I would
assume that it was issued by the United States to the
prisoners.
Were there any outstanding events that you can recall
with any of these prisoners?
We had no unusual incidents with them. We were most
pleased with the prisoners that were assigned to us to
use. They gave us no particular problem and we were
very pleased.
You mentioned the Wilson's using POW help. Any other
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people that you can recall?

Since you called me on the telephone the other day I did
visit with Andy Olson who lives south of Council Grove
four or five miles. He did use the prisoners-of-war
quite extensively for a period of time, maybe a year to
two years. He apparently also was pleased or he would
not have used them that long.

I'11 get in touch with him. I read in the Council Grove
paper in 1945, that was even after the war had ended, I
believe, that there was a prisoner escape from Council
Grove. It was November, I think, 1945. I wondered if
you recalled anything about that. It was on the front
page of the paper.

I can't believe that it slipped out of my mind, but I
don't recall it.

The paper never said whether they caught him or not but
since the war was over, I suppose they didn't care if
one got ocut. Did any of the prisoners talk to you about
America and what their feelings were about the United
States and all?

I don't recall any particular conversation but they were
quite interested in the way that we farmed here in
America. They compared it with the way that they farmed
in Germany. The definitely -- their allegiance was to
Mr. Hitler and Germany.

Now when I was going through some of the records fram
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the county agent, there was reference to the fact that
you were not supposed to talk about politics or
anything. Did any of those [subjects] come up —- other
than just their allegiance to Hitler?

If I recall correctly, in our instruction to use them,
we were not to quiz them about their personal lives or
[anything] in that vein.

Thank you for telling me about the prisoners-of-war and

I will contact the other people that you mentioned.
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Xaver Dietrich Gabelbachergreut,
Kohlstattweg 2

8901 Gabelbachergreut /Zusmarshausen

Tel. 0B291/9549

Frau

Tamsen Emerson

Bibliothekarin, Documents

Maps & Microforms Depts.,
University of Wyoming Libraries
P.0. Box 3334

University Station Laramie

USA - WY 82071 Wyoming

Betreff: Anzeige in der AZ vom 12.12.1987

Sehr geehrte Frau Emerson,

11.01.1988

auf Ihre Anzeige vom 12.12.1987 teile ich Ihnen mit, daf} ich zwischen
1943 und 1945 in Camp Fremont im US-Bundesstaat Kansas interniert war

und gerne bereit bin, Auskinfte Uber diese Zeit zu geben.

Wegen weiteren Auskinften setzen Sie sich bitte mit mir in Verbindung.

Mit freundlichen Grifien

Xaver Dielrich
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11 January 1988

Mrs. Emerson,

In response to your ad of 12-12-87 I would like to let you
that between 1943 and 1945 I was interned in Camp Fremont in
fKansas. I'll be gladly willing to give you information about this
For further information please contact me.

Xaver Dietrich

NOTE: A questionnaire was sent to Mr. Dietrich but there has been
no reply.
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Hermann P. Forbriger
Birkenweg 3a g
3000 Hannover 51 12-1-88

Miss

Tamsen Emerson

Documents, Maps & Microforms Dept.
University of Wyoming Libraries
P.0., Box 3334

University Station

Laramie WY 82071

Hello Miss Emerson,

according to our local newspaper you are looking for
POW's,stationed 1943 - 45 in Camp Fremont.

Although I don't think I have been at Freemont may be
I can help you.

Here's what I remember of:

The camp could be named Council Grove. quq
It must have been situated not so far from a
little village named Whitewater, and this not so far
from Kansas City and may be Wichita (2?).

I remember Whitewater, because there wasqéentleman
(he really behaved like one) named Donald B. Joseph,
farmer, banker etc., who fetched a lot of us with
his truck from the camp for working in his fields.

There are quite a lot of stories of happenings
in and outside the camp I remember.

So if you think I could be of any help to you
let me know.

Yours

¢
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Hermann P. Forbriger

Birkenweg 3a

3000 Hannover 51

West Germany 26,.5.88.

Miss

Tamsen I, Emerson
Sr. Asst. Librarian
Taramie U.S.A.

Dear Miss Emerson,

now I am in a hurry to answer your letter.
My wife was seriously ill for two months so I was not
capable of dealing with anything else, except I tried
to get my o0ld documents from my formerly house in the
DDR, which did not succeed up to now. But I think, I
shall get them yet, especially the copys of the "Ilager-
zeitung", which will be very informative,
Now here are some of the stories I remember.
Working outside the camp :
- 95% we wre treated very well and fair,
The farmers or other employers supplied us during
the day with drinks and eating sometimes some cigarettes
etc. Of course , they had not to pay very much for us,
we were much more cheager than_ local workers. It was
said, we did a good job, So a lot of ge_ple were eager
to %et us again and again, sometimes tried to insis
on the same guys from last week etc. etc.

So it seams to pe it was a fair deal for all.

Once we were in a cherry plantage, we had to plant
small cherry trees, The owner was a very hard man.,

No drinks, no breakfast we used to get everywhere,

no nothing, but expecting more done than everywlere
else. Spoke even to the GI's, watching us, not more than
necessarg, the same GIts, who accompagnied us for weeks
and months and knew us.

So one day he arrived for delivering the lunch, ggtting
out of his car and looking over the field in his face
first gox white and than red all over, Angrilyhtalked
to the GI's, who said they were only to guard us_not
for supervising and refferred to me as'r§5pon§1ble

for the group. He shouted to me and boiling with rage
asked me why we had done such a terrible work, I said
very calm, we had done_the same work as usally. No% he
cried, don't you see all over the field the young trees
one by one are planted upside down? Of course, I felt

he bo are_not ex 1 o} .
?L%rggékbﬁ};ma%%me %imey%o calm gom?ﬁﬁeﬁ { %1813 ﬁﬂ very
friendly our point of view, means good work-good treatment
and how other farmers treated us etc. He got calmer,

looked at me and our group, said OK, have your dinner now
got in his car and drove away.
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Half an hour later he returned and smiling at me he offered us

cigarettes, drinks etc, he gaid he @ not kn te
oFooourse he had mot mént offense. We promised him 10539 2%r

best to replant all the trees in the remeining ours, which

succeeded, and in the following weeks we had a good climate
and he made it very urgently by the camp officials that ne did
get worlkers and he insisted on the same people.

We wgre working on a field and a GI ordered to watch us was
cleaning his gun, He could do it, he knew, nobody of us would

try to run away. Wegl, than it was time %o start back to the
camp, and when we approached him, seeing him sweating and nervo
all over. So some of us put his gun together again and we start

I remember a farmer, who took us to his house for dinner.

We_cleaned us up by a well in front of the farmhouse and than
politely he asked us in. We could see some women behind the

curtains watching us. Everybody was very polite to us and we
had the first time a kind of familiar feeling used from home.
We were very grateful to these people for their kindness.

Soa I am a bit embarreded to tell the_rest of the story: From
these people we learne@ they were told by propaganda all the

Germans at least the soldiers had only one eye in the middle of
the forehead. This is incredible. (And that's probably the reas
of their wgtching our arrival behind the curtains.)

Another part of these repeated dinners is nice. These people
were used to handle the Tork in the right hang. Now thgy 8ere
astonished to see us eating knife right and fork left slmoul-

taneously. It was a secret amusement for us in the following
days watching them trying to do it our way.

Working on the fields I tried to catch snakes and back in the

I undid the skin, spreading it on a board in the sun for
g??gn , to bring it béckpto my girl for belts or shoes. I got
6 or and later in the camp, when placing them in the sun, I
learned by a GI, one of them was as oxhead, a bite of it is

absolutely deadly. -

rking outside meant also trying to get useful things, we did
ggt hage, and bring them backytogthe %amp. The only 1fflculty
was the ckecking up by our guardsmen before entering the camp.

One of us once tried to transport (%) an alarmclock,ypdgr his
lumberjack (?). Unfortuaustdy the alarm started,

when he passed the last man of the control.

One of the controllers was an immense big and strong colored man
He used to grasp with his big hands very quick and very hard,
almost pushing, udder the coat, so you could feel it aching

on your ribs. Evedt body was afraid of him. One day, doing so,
with a cry he tore his arms back. The things we urgently needed
were 4 cactus.

I don't think these stories are of any use to you. But maybe

they will helE you to obtain a bit of feeling for the complete
situation so long ago.

I have to excuse me for the bad quality of my typewriter, but
I did not want to do this in my office or by my secretary, and
it happens twice in 5 years I write myself, besidee I never lea

Wishing you all the best, especially for your examination,
and if I can be of any help don't hesitate to ask for.

Sincerely

L‘. (P Wm‘fe\/

121



QUESTIONNAIRE/FRAGEBOGEN

Translations in Italics

Date of Birth:
Geburtsdatum: 27.05.22, May 27, 1922

Place of Blrth: Lengenfeld i.V.

Lengenfeld, East Germany
Geburtsort: now. "DDR"-

Education. [(Include colleges attended and what studied]
Ausblldung. Oberrealschule? Universitat?

X
yeS

Occupation before the war. [Please mention if you were in
school]
Beruf bevor dem Kriege.

- no

. Were you drafted or did you volunteer for the army?
Waren Sie Dienstpflichtiger? Freiwilliger?

volunteer

. Tell me about your experience in the Gefman Army.
Bitte, erzahlen Sie dber Ihre Erfahrungen in Deutschen

Armee?
. Harte Ausbildung, wie sie in allen Armeen

iblich ist, sehr viel Kamyeradschaft, tesonders
an der Front

Strict. or difficult education as is usual in all armies,
Much companionship, especially at the Front.
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F pid you serve with Rommel's Afrika Korps?
¢ waren Sle in Rommels Afrika Korps?

ges

How were you captured?
wle waren Sle gefangengemommen?

In the vicinity of Tunis I tried together with another fellow
to escape by car. GI's got us, when our car got stuck in the
desert. They treated us very politely.

Later we were brought to a big camp near Tunis - Maison Carreé
and from there by ship to an old, empty factory in Oldham,
Great Britain.

what was your trip to the United States like?
Wie war die Reise (Seefahrt) nach Amerika?

f Not so bad. There was a dominating thought/fear,
: that a German U-Boot could hit the ship, of course
witheut lmowing own people were on board. .

. Which camp or camps were you assigned to?
Nach welcher Kriegsgefangener Lager waren Sie zugewlesen?

I am sure I have been in Camp Phdlips
and later in Council Grove

. Were you asslgned to a larger one such as Fort Riley in
Junction Cilty, Kansas or Camp Phillips in Sallna, Kansas and
then reassigned to a smaller camp such as Councll
Grove/Fremont?

Wwaren Sie ins grossen Lager geschickt, wle Ft. Riley . . . .
und spater Ins Klelneren wie Councll Grove oder Fremont?
Einige Monate nach Kriegsende wurden etwa 29 ausgesuchte
PoW mit entsprechenden Kenntnissen, VoI allem der engl.
Sprache, in die damals grosste Versuchsanstalt der amerik.

Luftwaffe nach Dayton/Ohio gebracht, wo sich auch d%fn.‘
Herren Wernher v. Braun, Noeggerath und Andere befanden,

Zur Bearbeitung und Auswertung deutscher Dokumente etc.

A few months after the end of the war, 25 specially chosen pow's with
useful skills and knowledge--especially English language, were brought
to Dayton, Ohio (where Wernher v, Braun, Noeggereth and others were),
in the, at that time, largest attempt by the American Air Force to
work on, and evaluate German documents.
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Do you have your papers? Haben Sie Ihre Kriegspapleren
noch? Would you allow me to have a photocopy? Darf ich
sie Kopieren?

no

What sort of clothing did you wear?
wWas fdir Kleider haben Sie im Lager getragen?

US army cloths with big letters

POW
printed on the back

What do you remember about the food? What did you like?
What d4id you not like?

Was errinern Sie sich daber das Essen? Was habt Ihnen
geschmeckt? Was haben Sie nicht gemécht?

We got good food, I liked all of it

who did you work for? Do you remember anyone in particular?
Konnten Sie arbeiten? Fir wem? Wo? Errinneren Sle sich
jemand besonders?

We worked for private people, especially on farms,

as harvesters for sago, cotton, corm etc.

I remember Mr., Donald B. Joseph, Whitewater, Kansas,
farmer, banker etc.
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A what kinds of work d4id you do?
E was fir Arbelt haben sle gemacht.

as mentioned under 15. and 11.
I was also editor of the "Lagerzeitung"

what impressions do you have of Amerlca?
was fir Eindricke haben Sie von der U.S. gemacht?

Ein grosses, weites und reiches Land mit vielen
Resourcen. Large, wide, and rich land with many resources,

Especially I learmed at that time "take it easy"
a2 sentence not usually in Germany at that time

. Did you recelive any education while interned? Wwhat kind?
Haben Sie Ausbilding gehabt? Wwas £f4r Ausbildung?

no

. ‘ what did ;you ‘do- for fun and entertalnment?
Was haben-Sie zum Unterhaltung und Entspannung getan?

r .
ef. to 16, editor, whlch took a 1ot of time,

Haying chess, cards etec.
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How did you like the climate?
wie haben Sie das Klima gemécht?

working in the fields sometimes it was very hot,
of course necessary for the harvest,
but I Iiked the climate

Did you believe that Germany would win the war?
Glauben Sie damals das D. den Krieg gewinnen wurde?

yes, almost till 1944

2. What did you learn about democracy?
was haben Sle dber Demokratle gelernt?

I don't think, there was a pomssibility
for a PoW, living in a camp.
Working outside during daytime means working
" in the fields without any connection or reference
ta the real life in the community or family.

The GI's who were guarding us outside the camp,
were normal boys as everywhere. They knew, we wre

not dangerous and behaved accordingly, means
appreciatively.
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Have you corresponded with 1) anyone you worked for? 0r
2) anyone else you were intexrned with? If so, who?
Haben Sie Brlefe gewechselt mit: a) Jemand fdr den Sle

gearbeitet hatten? b) jemand der zusammen mit Ihnen
interniert war?

no

i Did you ever return to America for a visit? If so, when.
' Where did you go? :

Haben Sle den U.S. spater nochmals besucht? Wann? Wo sind
Sle gefahren?

no -...

Y mmj Adirls Blas b pay o Hod by o
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-

. Do you consider your experlence as a prisoner good fair, or

poor? - - .

Berucksichtlgend waren lhre Erfahrungen.

a: gut - b: schlimm c: ertraglich
good. , . -
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WERNER LUCK Wilseder Str. 4
1000 Berlin 41
Tel.: (030)6BX 61739

795 18 95

Sehr

geehrtes , gnddiges Frl. Emerson !

; Mit Interesgse habe ich Ihr Inserat in der Berliner Zeitung " B Z "

: gelegsen. Leider erst jetzt!
Am 13.Mai 1943 kam ich in Nord Afrika in englische Kriegsgefangem #
schaft und wurde spidter zusammen mit vielen anderen Kameraden den
amerikanischen Truppen libergeben.
Am 23.Juli 1943 wurden wir von Casablanca aus nach New York verschifft.
Ich kam nicht nach Kansas sondern nach Luisiana und nmuflte Zuckerrohr
schlagen.
Sie haben nach ehemaligen Kriegsgefangenen gefragt die in Camp Fremont
waren,ich schreibe Ihnen diese Zeilen weil Sie vielleicht doch fiir Sie
etwas interessant sind!
Unser Transport war fiir Kansas bestimmt,wurde dann plétzliech aufgrund
einer Nachricht zum Siiden umgeleitet.Nach Luisiana,Camp Livingston.
Wir waren von Casablanca bis New York 9 Tage unterwegs,mit soganamnten
Liberty (Kaiser) Schiffen.Von New York bis Camp Livingston fuhren
wir mit dem Zug 3 Tage und zwei N&dchte.
Wie anders widre meine Gefangenschaft verlaufen,wdren wir nicht umgeleis=
tet worden!
Wir waren im Hauptlager dann spdter 5 Q00 Gefangene,aufgeteilt in
Kompanien zu je 250 Mann.Wir lebten in Holzbaraken zu je 15 oder 16
Personen,schliefen auf sogenannten Feldbetten und hatten gemein =
schaftswaschrdume.Das Essen war sehr gut!Wir hatten keinerlei An =

laf wme iliber Behandlung zu klagen!Es war alles sehr fair !

129



WERNER LUCK Wilseder Str. 4
1000 Berlin 41
Tel.: (030) $¢8%X 3L

18 95
1. ) 795 9

Wir hatten sehr viele Sportmdéglichkeiten,wir hildeten Musikgruppen,

Theatergruppen und FuBballmanschaften.

Sehr, sehr danken mdchte ich dem "Christlichen Verein Junger Manner"”
(YMCA) !Diesen Menschen haben wir unzidhlig viel zu verdanken gehabt !!!
Sie hahen uns sehr geholfen diese vielen Jahre geistig gesund zu
iinerstehen.¥ir bekamen von Ihnen Literatur,bekamen die ﬂbglichkeit
Sprachen zu erlernen,bekam~en sehr viele Musikinstrumemte und
Sportgerdte.

Wir hatten im Hauptlager ein grofes Qrchester.

Bald kam ich dann aber leider in ein Nebenlager,es lag am Golf von
Mexiko. Der gréBere nidchste Ort war Houma. Wir waren dort 250 Mann.
Wir wohnten in Zeltemn.Es gab dort alles!Moskitos,Schlangen und vor
allen das Klima!Subtropisch.Mérderische Hitze!

Zuckerrohr schlagen und Baumwollpfliicken,ich glaube nur im Steinbruch
von Camp Alva in QOklahoma,im Straflager war es schlimmer.

Aber ich will mich nicht beklagen,die Kameraden in Russland hatten es
noch viel schlimmer!Wir hatten wenigstemns gut zu essen!

Wir konnten auch in der Kantine ein Bier trinken,denn wir bekamen pro
Tag 80 cent Lohm zum Esgen dazu.Ein Bier kostete 5 Cent.Eine Packung
Zigaretten 10 Cent.

Ich konnte sehr viel erzihlen iiber meine Erlebnisse!Ich entflok spitfer,
wurde wieder gefalBt,war in Houma im Gefangmiss.Wurde strafversetzt
nach Sout Carolina, Fort Jackson,spidter nach Nort Carolima Fort Bragg.
Es wird Sie vielleicht alles garnicht interessieren was ich geschrieken
habe! Aber ich wollte einfach mal etwas los werden!Vor allen Dank!!!
Dank an die Vereinigten Staaten von Amerikz !Ihr Heimatland Frl.
Emerson,ist unsere Hoffnung und unser Garant!Garant fiir die PFreiheit!

Ich habe drei Jahre in USA zugebracht,als Gefangener,und doch mdchte

- . i ; \( o
ich diese Jahre nicht missent Z\WLQCE\L %w.p/& %M, 5{%
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[undated]

Dear Miss Emerson:

I have read your advertisement in the Berliner Zeitung with
much interest, just recently.

On the 13th of May 1943 I became a P.0.W. of the British and
later with many other comrades (buddies) we were turned over to
the American troops.

On the 23 July 1943 we were sent by ship to New York. I did
ot get to Kansas but was sent to Louisiana to cut sugar cane.

You asked for former P.O.W.'s who were in Camp Fremont,
however I am writing you these lines because they might interest
you somewhat.

Our transport was meant for Kansas, but because of a message
were diverted to the South, to Louisiana. Camp Livingston. We
were 9 days under was from Casablanca to New York with the so-
called Liberty (Kaiser) ships. Fram N.Y. to Camp Livingston we
travelled 3 more days and 2 nights by train. How different my

? would have been if we had not been diverted.

We were in a main camp with some 5000 prisoners, divided into
companies of 250 men. We 1lived in wooden barracks with
approximately 15-16 persons, slept on so—-called field beds (army
cots) and had cammon washrooms. The food was very good. We had
no reason to camplain about our treatment. It was all very fair.

P. 2

We had many opportunities for sports, we formed music groups,
theatre groups and football teams. I should like to express my
very great thanks to the people of the YMCA. We owe these young
men countless thanks. They have helped us very much to remain
mentally healthy during those many years. We received fram them
literature, (books), got the opportunity to learn languages and
got many musical instruments and athletic equipment. We had a
large orchestra in the main camp.

Shortly afterwards I was sent to a side-camp, it lay on the
Gulf of Mexico. We lived in tents and there was everything,

mosquitoes, snakes and the climate! Subtropical and murderous
heat!

131



Cutting sugar and picking cotton. I believe that only
breaking stone in Camp Alva in Cklahoma, the punishment camp, was
worse. But I do not wish to complain, my friends in Russia were
much worse off, at least we had good food. We could also drink
beer in the canteen, because on top of the food we received 80
cents per day wages. A beer cost us 5 cents, a package of
cigarettes cost 10 cents.

I could tell you much about my adventures. Later on I
escaped but was apprehended and was in prison in Houma. For
punishment I was sent to South Carolina. Fort Jackson, later to
North Carolina, Ft. Bragg. Perhaps you will not be at all
interested in what I have written but I wanted to get it off my
chest.

First of all thanks, thanks to the U.S.A. your hame country,
Miss Emerson, is our hope and guarantee, guarantee for freedom. I

spent 3 years in the U.S.A. as a p.o.w. and yet I should not like
to have missed those years.

Friendly greetings,

Werner Liick
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i 28.3.1988
WERNER LUCK Wilseder Str. 4 3.19

1000 Berlin 41
Tel.: (030) 795 18 95

Sehr geehrte Miss Emerson !

Ich weil nicht ob Miss correct ist ?
Aber ich schreibe es einfach!
Ihren freundlichen Brief vom 16.3. habe ich erhalten.Ich habe mich
gehr dariiber gefreut!Ich hatte schon garnicht mehr mit einmer Ant =
wort gerechnet,
Ich weiB nun garnicht wie weit Sie deutsch lesen kdnnen,
Macht es Ihnen viel Miihe diese Briefe 2zu lesen?Sprechen tue ich
englisch recht gut,nur mit dem schreiben sieht es nicht so gut aus.
Ich mache beim Schreiben in englisch sehr viele Fehler.
Wir haben in den Gefangenen Camps Gelegenheit gehabt um Fremd =
sprachen zu lernen.Man konnte so ziemlich alle Hauptsprachen
lernen,sofern man wollte!Ich war sehr fleiBig (diligent)und hatte
englisch und italienisch gelernt.Natiirlich wieder sehr viel ver =
lernt,
Ich werde nun der Reihe nach berichten,( inform) :
Als 19 jahriger Soldat kam ich 1942 nach Nord-Afrika.Ich war ein
Kriegsfreiwilliger (volunteer). Ich diente am 8,8 cm. Geschiitz.
( 88mm anti - tank gun ).
Am 13, May 1943 mittags 12.00 o‘clock at noon ergaben wir uns.
Am 7, June 1943 arrival in Casablanca (Marokko).
Verry hot, just e few water daily. on bread daily for 25 persons.
A few sausages and marmelade,
Am 23. July we left Casablanca for New York.It wars a liberty ship ,
8 200 tions.
Arrival in New York 4. August.We coudt take a shower and we had
to give the names and etc.
Next day we left New York for Luisiama , Camp Livinstom.Far on the
Golf of Mexico.On the way to Luisiana we passed :Pittsburg,Baltimore
acrossed the Missisippi.
On the 7. of August 02.00 o'clock we arrived ther. In the Main Camp
we had 20 companys.Every ome had 250 mans. I been in the 5. Comp.
Barrak No., 1911 . My Prisomer of War No.: 8 WG 33567,
I been in Livinston till November the 13. Thenm we left fom Woodlawn
which is a little side camp closed to Houma a small village in Luis
We had to work in the shugar can.Verry hard work!Sub -~ tropic elimat

Mosquitos , smnakes and hurrycanes.
The food has been verry good and enough !Our wages 80 cents per day.

1 N



-2 -

We had a canteen in our Camp, ther we coud buy cigarettes , 10 cents
per packet,a coke 5 cent,everry thing was cheap.Pree of taxe.

We was living in tems.5 persons in one tente.

We build a theatre in our camp ,we had a band, same-time we saw films.
But the work for as war verry hard!Por middle -europeans to heavy!
I had a friend and we booth was making a plar to escape from ther.
We did mow,Prisomners who escaped will get 28 days guard-house,and
then the get transferd to a other camp.

Only this was the reason that we escaped,because the way back to
@ermany was to far! Prisoners who was going to Mexico had no chance,
Mexico deliverd them back to the Staats.

The story about the flight is a bit to long now. Mayby lather ther
from,

In december 1344 we escape?after four days the had us again.

We got 28 days gmard - house .0ne week only bread and water,than
up to normal food.

In Januar 1945 than i got transfered to Sowth Carolima +to the

Camp Port dJacksongynear to Columbia a small village.

In Fort Jacksonm, I became waiter in the " Non Divisionsal (Officers
Field Mess ", It was a dream Job for a Prisoner of War!

The Club was build like a Bloek-house . A verry good restaurant
with a la' carfte menu. We had white waiter jackets and we had to
serve drinks and food.The cooks also been P.WeS. Even the swimmings
pool-assisten been german., This has been a verry nice time ther!

We meet ther verry good Officers and wifes and girls. Strictly
forbitten was it to give tips,but nearly evry body left same omn
the table.We coud swimm in the Pool befor the guest did came,
Early im 1946 the shoot this Club and we came to North Carolina
in Port Bragg.Ilt was a verry large Camp,

It was a discharge Camp for the troops camming back from oversess
after the War was finished. I got a job in the kitchem to help the
cooks,The had two big messes, West - mess and East -mess.We served
more then tausend meals for ILunch and Dinner.

In May 1946 we got told now yow going home,back to Germany!We been
verry happy!We left Amerika but the brought as to England!In
Liverpool we shipped eut. One more year in England we had to stay!
The pigture shows me in Camp Livinstom and the certificate it's

a copy. I will finished for today. I hope you can understand my

ik, Eoifhh ok “i&wt}
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28 March 1988

Dear Miss Fmerson,

I & ot know whether the Miss is correct? But I write it
anyway. I received your kind letter fram March 16. I was very
happy about that, I had no langer counted upon an answer.

I don't know at all how easily you can read German. Is it
very difficult for you to read these letters? I speak English
quite well but I don't do so well with writing. I make many
mistakes with my writing. In the POW camps we had the opportunity
to learn foreign languages. One could learn practically any main
language. I was very diligent and learned English and Italian.
Of course I've forgotten a lot.

I will inform you in order.

As a 19 year old soldier, I went in 1942 to North Africa. I
was a volunteer. I served on an 88 mm anti-tank gun. On the 13
of May 1943 at 12 o'clock noon, we surrendered. On June 7, 1943
we arrived in Casablanca. Very hot, just a little water daily and
bread daily for 25 persons.

NOTE: The rest of the letter is in English and therefore does not
require translation.
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Hochstein, 13 Dec. 87

Dear Mrs. Tamsen Emerson!

In the Augsburger Zeitung I read that you are looking for former
POW's from Kansas. Of course I was not in Camp Fremont, but in
Fort Riley, which must be in the neighborhood of Jankton [sic]
City. I do not remember exactly since it is more than 40 years in
the past. What I wanted to tell you is that Fort Riley is the
geographic center of the U.S.A. and that there was an obelisk
which I passed many time in the area, is also a cemetery for
German soldiers. Besides that it is, or was, the largest cavalry
school in the world. Now I should 1like to start from the
beginning. On the 27th of September, 1943, I was captured by the
English in Salerno in South Italy. In the middle of October I was
transferred to the Americans in Tunisia. After a 25 day crossing
I landed on November 6, 1943 in New York in the new world. I was
3 days and nights in a pullman on the way to Indiana and Nebraska
as a Swip Boy [???] I have broken my right forearm by window
cleaning. In April or May 1944, I was moved to POW camp Algona
(Iowa), I was not very long there and was transferred further to
Sidecamp in Moorhead, Minnesota. There I was out to work on the
farm of Peterson and Horn with onion hacking and the tomato
harvest. Even now I think about how the farmer came and said
today no work to much mosquitoes. Since I was in a malaria area
from September-October 1943 I came down surprisingly with malaria
and the physicians in Fargo could not determine this to them
unknown illness and I was sent back to the main camp at Algona.
There was a German army doctor, Dr. Strehle who got me healthy
again and then I went on to Fort Riley, Kansas. I liked Kansas
really the best as far as weather and climate went. It was
somewhat the same as in Bavaria. I am a Catholic farmer's boy. I
am now 66 years old and think back to America very often. I was
an exelent [sic] worker by farmer Rosi Sweed, harvesting potatoes
or tapioca or picking corn. Every day we had to go to a different
farm and I really thought it was funny only having to work 8 hours
a day-—-at home we worked 14-16 hour days. In this way I could
tell you much more but I don't know if you want to know all that.
In August or September 1945 I saw General Eisenhower when he
visited his mother after the war, in Abeline or Salina. And also
Gen. Wiedemeier when he was released from Japanese captivity and
landed in Ft. Riley.

I should to close with the best greetings.

Josef Oberfrank

Please greet Ft. Riley Barracks nr. 1555
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QUESTIONNAIRE/FRAGEBOGEN

Date of Birth:

Geburtsdatum: ,2 }/ H/, / //5 2 g

Place of Birth: ] j
Geburtsort: H o chs /Z/ 7

Education. [Include colleges attended and what studied]
Ausbildung. Oberrealschule? Universitat?

VolKsschule

Occupation before the war. [Please mention 1f you were in
school]
Beruf bevor dem Kriege.

Landwirschafl 2&lig gu Haule

Were you drafted or did you volunteer for the army?
waren Sie Dienstpflichtiger? Freiwilliger?

ﬁ/er‘?f/)‘yz//&f)r/}/-g/- ses h
6, Februar 19497

Tell me about your experience in the German Army.
Bitte, erzahlen Sie dber Ihre Erfahrungen in Deutschen
Armee?

Bei der Denlschen Prmee war Gehprsin
0;;/)/'"6’/‘ Wt rf/'j ke;// ﬂé‘j/e,g//— Vo /‘g/g,,,,,
Phevern erstes 6ebol. Jeder pat A e
M ose /0/// yor dem AN kﬂhé?/f'/lfkpm
/Q//gs solllte /e//ﬁeﬁ/f/‘un/ Jenﬂw sein
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D1d you serve with Rommel's Afrika Korps?
waren 5le in Rommels Afrika Korps?

,5c?/x/fe ﬂ/)’ ffjﬂfe A a3 /('5’/'77/”’ en

How were you captured?
Wie waren Sie gefangengemommen?

nsere angeschlagene Cvappe solte /"”WI{P@/M
JTee a7 Ko Erom o - Q/'/)?V' 58/"/' K 5 m,/d
enden Jypuppe £ /7 ) ﬁb""ﬂﬂ?”,r s Wiy
wicder valen av i gpman Zm/ﬂ/é;ﬂ{jéw s A,
E/’zj/éw'm/w Sle Frmee

wWhat was your trip to the United sStates 1like?
Wie war die Reise (Seefahrt) nach Amerika?

ﬁ‘/’; ernem Z/K’é'//-/ Sfﬁ/ﬁcy)wmew‘sm%ﬁ/é‘)

Sovr T momis WVovFolKk Vew Fort Vo
J W é@ZéJZLéMj /‘efj_s‘ﬂp;

3 Posen Fleis b oA

bWVrjf / |
Foydo 77, 0K~ k15 b MeV,
od e ////

DK E sl sch J .—/
Bohrer, Srarloftel , Pie leleler S 7 ajge See ) v,

Which camp or camps were you assigned to?
Nach welcher Kriegsgefangener Lager waren Sle zugewiesen?

/0&»// (0/40/ Jid avola Nebras o

Were you assigned to a larger one such as Fort Riley in
Junction City, Kansas or Camp Phillips in Salina, Kansas and
then reassigned to a smaller camp such as Council
Grove/Fremont?

waren Sle ins grossen Lager geschickt, wie Ft. Riley . . .
und spater ins Klelneren wie Councll Grove oder Fremont?

VJ” (am/ﬂ Jndianola Feb, 9 ch

1/ ﬁ/gasﬂa Jowa
/an 5@/'/?/’7/0 eV MOOV}(CQJ’M,mng/}
Vpn Adork nach Fort /2/'/6)/ Aapses

Vin dorb nech Ford Fustus Now Jersey
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Do you have your papers? Haben Sle Ihre Kriegspapleren

noch? Would you allow me to have a photocopy? Darf ich

sie Kopiéren? "-(;(‘ K—%C’r//( il @)t is e /ga/;'/é/cf
me . slevs |z /.;MJ Gt 2 {,,,(k/. jenan
Mm was es s«ch ‘?6‘(;’)6(&2((‘

what sort of clothing did you wear?
was fir Kleider haben sSie im Lager getragen?

Pomer Ko é sche

/;75‘,/‘/ /%///Z/./M;/]j

What do you remember about the food? What did you like?
What did you not like?

Was errinern Sie sich Gber das Essen? Was habt Ihnen
geschmeckt? Was haben Sie nicht gemdcht?

f ssen was j"’(LV?ﬂfh //ew/‘{fécfm y
547//’5{5’(255814 scja/ fevr‘ a/r/‘, ,/ea{m/r mi/jen
L Fewn ) o fFee m;f We: ,b/'c’/' prin A UPS
gw/’ wAreén an Fef("/‘ajeﬂ Falen g Grse
/té/ljfhé-gefr/?mec//' pal vy Aas 'éaéi f—‘fﬁ";
Fle, sch v nd wahy sch cinlich war s Thunlisch

who did you work for? Do you remember anyone in particular?
Konnten Sie arbeiten? Fir wem? Wo? Errinneren Sie sich
jemand besonders?

Jim /7’&5/0//’4/ Indian ola /(?h/ba/, S C/,f_h/rﬂ )
ﬁ/ﬁi#a ﬁufﬁ/(Fﬂ/VV’ 20‘//@5@/ /147(/(61’1/ /ﬂ/’V?.ﬂ(B/
Ernten J fp/(t ﬂ/‘/e)/ AauF Lev f’/ﬂ/ﬁ/’ /V/ﬂlf
ernf:v';i/,‘eren Saﬁlyraufffel/gn/ /(arh{ﬁ‘e(
ernten Fuv die Prmee 1 dev Satlerer
Schneidere: Sc/m:fe/é/'/ Molor Frol

v ;{7 '
Stein br'wrb/ am Baknhot, L;{"(S;;//:/ ;;/:J;/n/
. > e i 4
Ap Mick Fahy u, 6illy W:’H“’ ,.53//; cl



what kinds of work 414 yau do7
was fir Arbelt haben Sle gemacht.

Jn Jndia vmela hab ik wiv berna
fé/,sf“»,/a 1 lro o Ao vechlen Vales oy w »
chroihent wu. wuv e soFovd s Hosos X
J2y Gy obel. Jn Mooyhead peKam s Wm/«
War 4halber Jahy zuvov in Taiis in /ud(ullj

ﬁeéﬂi( jc’/?jei/r,

what Ilmpresslons do you have of Amerlca?
Was far Eindriacke haben Sie von der U.S. gemacht?

o USP sined ein geoPes Land il
f/ec/c)n ijeﬂSQ/?é')’( g,ﬂ“/e;/e ﬁ:/‘a"(/?e/e S ta o
stel s J/aﬂe Lo po3e ¢ M eldm.n/\’(-/_
i L 4;,,/34;4/7("/;4;4/1 W ellplechba verc/Kern 77
ko Kemne KameradSchaFil,; che Vack hav =
S(éa/'/‘/ viel fjd/"‘m‘/%/ Mé’nsr/)/)(//e /)’é/fe

Did you recelve any educatlion while interned? Wwhat kind?
Haben Sie Ausbilding gehabt? Was £4r Ausbildung?

Weime Rusbildu v g

what did you do for fun and entertainment?
Was haben Sie zum Unterhaltung und Entspannung getan?

Sport Fussball Englisch Sprachkurse besc
I/Z/JM(/?/‘ VV)//" ﬂ//ﬁ)/ér_’ 2 u n/)o{/er/ jcﬁachfldle/
/ﬁeﬁ/(l‘ér‘/ /)///79 é»e.fwc/z(L //e/(je/ esen .
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How d4i1d you lilke the climate?
Wie haben Sle das Klima gemécht?

QJ(J KLlivra W ay e ch Wie& in ﬂg,,,/‘y(/t/a/);
(/A(‘k’ j/awa’ Wiy Siru/ c/p(f /em j/c’/’(ﬁen /5,'2/&?
avuad wie Karsas yu, v ebrvasita l],;../-f:‘d‘m Moonp
%gao/ piess es b’f/@r’ 79;/4:7 mo WorX Fga o bk

M os Kiéo

Did you believe that Germany would win the war?
Glauben Sie damals das D. den Krieg gewinnen wurde?

Nachdemw ich in Gefé‘nrensc[(af/' jer/’af‘un,
binker dic Kulisser sah “dasab ,‘CA/ HAal Aer
/{r'/fj vorloren wer, Die [FieieFen waren
uns 1995 an Men shen ond ﬁ//zj‘swra/'g// o
Vi Zam/el Wasser vimd Lufl werl Lhes =

Ze(je”/ datu b alle ﬂﬂhffc/r!an/ einen
R/'nj,mm franf“en/{riej. Hiltler Wﬂrﬁy‘d’lqenh/m
jimnij(

what did you learn about democracy?
Was haben Slie aber Demokratlie gelernt?

ﬁemaﬁra//e( /}e )mgk/}S(Aew awcé bér
nwvJS e:wn efw/?f(L sl /f)’ erneé jml’é’
ﬁéj)érww(jffarm/ wenv €5 ,/),"r/'.’/L 2 #

V}é’/e M&lw{amf y‘le}ﬁg,/ L/ev‘dén und nav

Von 5"5 /Dayfe)en jé)’“&jem We/i{?m
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Have you correzpondesd with 1) anyons you worked for? 534
2) anyone else you were Interned with? 1If so, who?
Haben Sie Brliefe gewechselt mit: a) Jemand £dr den Sie
gearbeitet hatten? b) Jjemand der zusammen mit Ihnen
interniert war? _ %,
s j ! " i /? T i/ - l.. 1.7
e ﬁmz/‘//{a R A cent fUein e ‘/3/'/7 s 1ET AT
i 2Pt ST eipem /T/’",]”s‘/fﬁ & Gl &

;/@/ /)ﬂ/'/l' mwm Y G j/é///c)//

71 E':"/;’ t/t’/é'//i/l/w 147 ' dve
o

w ot ,h ot /ﬂ ’ /‘//

st Covre

Did you ever return to America for a visit? 1If so, when.

Where did you go?
Haben Sie den U.S. spater nochmals besucht? Wann? Wo sind

Sie gefahren?
le,der ag HeE P v, I preraem //f/jebw(/(

, fand i ch fo{ ()”’_/Z /_I/ﬂ/_/? w eine, /Qme/’//)/ﬁ/‘aw
HV.’/(MMI({L l/eu: pﬂ/(“/ﬁ(jiﬂ'“ (7'/'/3/J/V’//and/al/eﬂr’lr/fﬂ
i /7 (jana /{wn o5 ai = . H“J" Seiéen ly. 1 porhead /17,
0, Sepl, /{’/j/,fm/w/4 .‘?0,_56/98‘. -—"‘?f. Feb: 1596 Fopt /7, /e), /v
~ 13, Mére Fort Eustis Vo/5ima | o
o —19,Marz Camp 57/76“4(55 New Yorll fPbr e se 2/0"‘

Viebo /)/ Sni éy/2q<ﬁ/"k/ Heinric m e Havve V.

. (o]

Do you consider ur experlence as a prisoner good, fair, or

pcor?
Beracksichtigend waren Ihre Erfahrungen.
a: gut b: schlimm c: ertraglich

Die f;"‘/,‘nepwnj an BperiKa wivd Fiv
M/ﬁ(h i er jmf' serv. Q,’e Fa;'erz /_5(_,/",‘.{7
ZMmj , Aer jm/‘g éebgw;/‘gn/qr%/ e i
2;”{;(/);’@/! o r wm ik 50 “V’r/(cjj/o'i/a(‘/)éﬂ
dey Teh heuwle noch bing Halle /5”)’,/
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QUESTIONNAIRE/FRAGEBOGEN

Date of Birth: .
Geburtsdatum: April 27, 1921

Place of Birth: .
Geburtsort: Hochstein

Education. [Include colleges attended and what studied]
Ausbildung. Oberrealschule? Universitat?

Elementary school.

Occupation before the war. [Please mention 1f you were in
school]l
Beruf bevor dem Kriege.

Worked in agriculture at home.

Were you drafted or did you volunteer for the army?
Waren Sie Dienstpflichtiger? Freiwilliger?

Drafted on February 6, 1941,

Tell me about your experience in the German Army.
Bitte, erzahlen Sie iber lhre Erfahrungen in Deutschen
Armee?

In the German Army, obedience, humility, and respect for every officer.
Everybody had it up to there because all the higher-ups demanded that

everything should be perfect and exact.
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pid you serve with Rommel's Afrika Korps?
waren 5le in Rommels Afrika Korps?

I was going to be a substitute but never made it.

How were you captured?
Wie waren Sle gefangengemommen?

My group had to bring food, drink and munitions to a mountain camp at
Amulfi and when we came down the British were there.

What was your trip to the United states like?
Wie war die Reise (Seefahrt) nach Amerika?

I came over on the Liberty Ship named Muehlenburg from Tunis to
Norfolk-New Port, From October 12 to November 6, On the whole
it was pretty good. Three time a day we got cans of meat with
beans and potatoes. Last three days I was seasick.

,  Which camp or camps were you assigned to?
Nach welcher Kriegsgefangener Lager waren Sie zugewlesen?

The POW camp at Indianola, Nebraska.

, Were you assigned to a larger one such as Fort Riley in
Junction City, Kansas or Camp Phlllips in Sallna, Kansas and
then reassigned to a smaller camp such as Council
Grove/Fremont?
waren Sie ins grossen Lager geschickt, wie Ft. Riley . . . .
und spater ins Klelneren wle Councll Grove oder Fremont?

From Camp Indianola, Nebraska to Camp Algona, Iowa. From that camp

to Moorhead, Minnesota. From there to Fort Riley, Kansas. From
there to Fort Eustis, New Jersey.
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. Do you have your papers? Haben Sle Ihre Kriegspapleren
noch? Would you allow me to have a photocopy? Darf ich
sie Kopieren?

Yes. Enclosed are several papers mostly in English.

. What sort of clothing did you wear?
Was fur Kleider haben Sie im Lager getragen?

American POW clothes.

,  What do you remember about the food? What did you like?
What did you not like?
Was errinern Sie sich dber das Essen? Was habt Ihnen
geschmeckt? Was haben Sie nicht gemdcht?

The food was very good., After German barracks food, very good indeed.
Every morning good coffee with white bread and fruit. On holidays
there was ?? And that was good. What I didn't like was the tough
buffalo meat and the tuna fish.

. Who did you work for? Do you remember anyone in particular?
Konnten Sie arbeiten? Fir wem? Wo? Errinneren Sie sich
jemand besonders?

I worked as a go-for in the hospital in Indianola. In Iowa, Algona. On
the farm I cut onions, harvested tomatoes. At Ft., Riley, on the farm,
harvested corn, worked on the silos, harvested potatoes, and planted
sago. For the Army, worked in the saddle shop, tayloring shop, and shoe
shop. Worked in the motor pool, did brick work at the railroad station,
and worked in water-supply. I remember Nich Fuhr, Billy White, and Berta
Stehr who were supervisors in the shop.
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what kinds of work did you do?
was far Arbelt haben Sle gemacht.

In Indianoca, worked as window washer and then I broke my right
forearm and immediately ended up in the hospital. Six months earlier,
in Tunis, I had been in a malaria area and malaria came back then.

what impressions do you have of America?
Was far Elndriacke haben Sie von der U.S. gemacht?

The U.S.A. is a large country with many opposing sides. All the
big cities have their large, pompous buildings in the middle and

all around it, slums. Not such companionable neighbors but much

egotism and human coldness.

Did you receive any education while interned? Wwhat kind?
Haben Sle Ausbilding gehabt? Was fir Ausbildung? ’

No education.

what did you do for fun and entertainment?
Was haben Sle zum Unterhaltung und Entspannung getan?

Played sports--football, fo-lowed an English-language course, tried to
paint with oils, played chess, went to the theater and movies and

read an awful lot,
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How did you llke the climate?
Wie haben Sie das Klima gemécht?

The climate was similar to Germany. I think that we were at the same
latitude as Kansas and Nebraska. In Iowa, Moorhead, quite often it
said "Today no work, too many mosquitoes."”

Did you believe that Germany would win the war?
Glauben Sie damals das D. den Krieg gewinnen wurde?

After I became a POW and got to see behind the scenes, I realized
that the war was lost. The Allies were much more powerful in
1945 as far as people and war materials on land, sea and in the

air. Besides, Germany had to fight a circular war (they wer surrounded).
Hitler was insane.

what did you learn about democracy?
was haben Sle dber Demokratie gelernt?

Democracy, which in the meantime has come to Germany, also is a good

form of government when there are not too many big-mouths and only
3-5 parties.
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Have you corresponded with 1) anyone you worked for? or
2) anyone else you were lnterned wilth? 1If so, who?

Haben Sle Briefe gewechselt mit: a) Jemand fiar den Sile

gearbeitet hatten? b) jemand der zusammen mit Ihnen
interniert war?

I have no contacts in America any longer. With one war friend who
was with me in Sicily, in the east zone,

Did you ever return to America for a visit? 1If so, when.
Where did you go?

Haben Sle den U.S. spater nochmals besucht? Wann? Wo sind
Sle gefahren?

Alas, no more. In my diary I found the following notes about my stay

in America. 6 November 1943 arrival at New Port, Virgina. 9 November to
Indianola, Nebraska. 2-25 May Algona, Iowa, 25 May to 8 August then on
to Moorhead, Minnesota. 8 August-20 September Algona, Iowa. 20 September
to 28 February 1946 Fort Riley, Kansas. 28 February-13 March Fort Eustis,
Virginia. 13 March - 19 March Camp Shanks, New York, for journey home.

20 March left on the Victory Ship, Patrick Henry for Le Havre, France.

Do you consider your experience as a prisoner good, falr, or
poor?

Beridcksichtigend waren Ihre Erfahrungen.

a: gqut b: schlimm c: ertraglich

The memory of America for me will always be good. The fair treatment,
the good standard of living. In 2% years I was only addressed as "boy"
which I am still today addressed as "Hello Boy!"
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MeDICAL DES\(:'TE:: AU 3, ABMY ) ,//(A\..-/
(Revised AMay 31, 1929) CLINICAL RECORD \/, //

BRIEF

N
Register No. 2 L..Q,l\_i_:;{i Hospital ___ XE#XHATL Ragional

Name ___Qberfrank, Josef Serial No. ..._TNG=21778
Grade .__Gafr Co. 4 Regt. and Arm or Service . P

Age 23 Race ' J Nativity Bermany

Service Date of admission 0900 _6 October 1044

Source of admission _.._.._ Par 8b AR 40=590
Station .__Fort Riley, Kangaes
Ward .___QRS Previous admission ...... B
Religion Home address

Name and address of nearest relative

........... - NEAX NED SHAW L MC

{Initials of admitting oﬂleex)] ]

Disposition Duty Date 9 _October 19 44

Final diagnesis: Nasopharyngitis, acute,catarrhal

Additional diagnoses (Complications, special treatment and operations) :

Line of duty Dees Not Apply
Condition on completion of case . Improved

Transfer diagnosis confirmed or not confirmed

Autopsy %% . Wu{/) //

s M.C.

10—15313




KRIEGSGEFANGENE FORMULAR

Do nol write in shaded portions

P. O. W. FORM

Nicht in die Vierccke schreiben .
Complete Form in block letters (% Male - (*) Female
Mit Grosshuchstaben ausufuellen -Maennlich, Weiblich
Leave hlank Wehrnummer :
Lassen Sie lehr “'u‘ ah”ﬁh
T . ] ; o| MMM M "R
Grnde (.) ||!Inﬂn (’)-ﬁ:==5::g x EE {:===§§E===- 5 = ::nﬂun;ilnul: E
| xx BN b | A M it % Ak %
- [ 0 00 0030 0 0 80 06| 3038 XXM xli 1+
No. of identity disc Date of birth
Erkennungsmarke Nv. (2 a) 1119 Geburtsdatum VoL
3.1af, Bre, Batl, 63 2T, 4 192 3y [FEE R
' MMM b | MMM
Place of birth
Geburtsort  (3a)
eight Hair Co Eyes
lirche (36) Augen (3d) ypgun

166

Haare (3 ¢) mduu o

) fme

. f [} . I 1',:..,4
Di forities A .
Verunstattungen (3 e
g (3e)  yorgundung rechte Wange ‘
Nationality Last Present
Staatsangehoerigkeit Fruchere Tieutige
FPERAEE n
Deu.tgch (4) [Eisiiny) | Deatso (8)
3N MEE RO LA X0 M XL M
., 3OO 3T B0 MM M X M
Family Stalus (*) Single (*) Married (*) Widow(er) {*) Divorced
Famibienstand Ledig Yerheiratet Witwe(r) Geschicden
- dvup MM
MMM K]
(8) [nnun
DO Y
AR MMM MM
Home Address
Persvenliche Street
Anschrift Slrasse . N
s—Reahebadn_ hatl : A
) Stadiki €is s

. i e MW
Densuweer th : \ . DA engen ERHxes SRLTA D e
o 7 |unu::u',unnuuxw.uuui i
* B0 SO MM BOLME MMM 300
i 1 I.Kl.llll,) MM K] v
Negierungshezivk o " Y
, g

R Mw‘ K el
Neichsgau oder Provine

Bayern

Organisation
Organisalion i
i g we
Waren Sie : (10) =;=n:““§§§=
Were you ever ' EXER XUXRNE
et Lt
a. An Officer of the N.S. . A. P. or onc of its affiliatcs or approved Tenk
organisalions Grad o .
Mitglicd der N. S.D. A. P. oder einer ihrer Angeschlossenen
Verbacnde wie B, Z. W. hetrenten Organisationen L IRLY
N H Helotedidedetiototetideds] '
b. An Officer or Employee of the german Police (11 'lég:’;&ﬁ:ﬁggﬁs ]
‘Mitglicd oder Angestellter der deutschen Polizei Mo Goon
¢. An Officinl or Employce of the Civil Service 3?. e ——
. atum -
Reamler oder Angestellter des oeffentlichen Diensles u '
' . L4
If so, give full details of Organisalion I
Wenn ja, geben Sie genaue Auskunft ueber solche Taeligkeit ' J'
MU MAMUUNK i
12y
<
{*) Strike through whichever is applicable
Geeignetes unterstreichen . ,,
1, 550217 /g
’ <
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E: Militaer Peschacftigung

Date dfod  Unrtron®
\ Datam e mbivend ‘

: Civil Ocoepation
F Zivil Beschaeftigung

AL

(13)

yMililary Qceupation

Infantring

MUM My
b ard
(1‘) MR
. MR
300 L
MAMMUPA

Unitor Organisation at time of caplare

Last tompetent Recruiting Office
Frueliere befachige Werhestelle

Regicrungsberirk
mgaturg oder

Land . Lo

Sohwabden

-
8
-

RREE S

Next of kin
Naechste Angehoerige

M tern

Sarpame
Zaname (20a)

Oborf rank

First names (20 4) "
Yor
orname Josel

: State Service or whether civitinn bRt
- Abteijung oder Organisation bei Aktiver \Wehrdienst oder Beruf. (48) [y Siu”;m
Gefangnahime " | stadt 56
Ban Roservist .. M R
Pg.0ran Ret, 115
Detaits of Branch of Service | it
Auskunft ueher Dienststelle . . (18), 555555\::5::&
t..htl.ns. Darnstads ettt trpeitiepid
.\o and l)Lla.ls of Division riviritiinisiio il ool
. | NG upgd Ausk uplt.ug d.e D.y“m“ s 417 33O BORA TV MO0 MUK MK
. Phiain st T "’?‘V ‘7*30‘7 H a“l HMMR R MM
’IQO"O'\. mf. k i LRI i FHEHHEEE
No. and Details of Regiment. P e
. . MM 33 B KB KN { :
Nr. und Auskuntt ucher das “CG"“C"' (AB) e R s
SEEEE R e
P3,0ren,Regt. 115, 10.Kp,
Rank :nﬁ)ﬁ::ll xg :
Grad 4 (49) [gusntioions
Gefreiter , . nl:nn]hugni
EIRRPe - ' o 1

e TV TR IO TONN

e
Verwandschaltsgrad (20 ¢)

PR
b

Strassc (20 ¢)

Vater ’
Town
Ot (20d) Nechstein bel Denmuwserth .
Street. ]

; i X0
ulslmlmu e
arter : - (21) [Maess
vu ey
X BUBR RN
Country where held . . 5;25‘.55 553325
9 " . . ) 243
Land der Gefangenschaft UsA (2B) [
i (30 MMM | O30
\ : Eetritiritit
Swrname . .
Zunamne . 23)
Oberfrank (23)
First names R 24
‘nan VP . -
Yornmme . S i (24)

I hereby cerlify that. 1o the best of my knowledge and belicf, the

particulars given are teue obigen Angaben wahr sind

15, Bep tember 1945

Ich evkliive hlermll nach, bestem \issen und Gewissen, dass die
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LAST NAME

PLRG 08

_GRADE'

3T

§

i
NAME

6L

TARMY SERIAL Mo

COMPANY |REGT.OR S

Poly/

vAFF cores!|  AcE

RACE

SMALLPOX VACCINE

DATE TYPE OF REACTIONS MED. OFFICER Y
AN 16 1988 | rvanacnoda } /j&

TRIPLE TYPHOID VACCINE

DATES OF ADMINISTRA’

TION

MED. OFFICER?

_semies | 1syDOSE 20 DOSE 3D DOSE
st (11-2¥-Y3 1 18-2- YR(1e- 13~V
2....... 4. ~AEHH s B LA =y 52
3.'1;1::::,,;1131!:1:8-- @‘ﬂ ---------------------- -Létéz
TETANUS TOXOID
INITIAL VACCINATION STIMULATING DOSES
| bAtE |MED.OFF DATE , OFF.1
16t dose. | 77-L¥-43 JAN 1% 1946 th O SIOP
2d dose. b@"f"ﬂ
3d dose 1-11-4
YELLOW FEVER VACCINE
DATE LOT Me. AMOUNT MED. OFF.}
OTHER VACCINES
o DATE "'R;"';_m’ AMOUNT ~ | MED. OFF.2

14--20202~1

M.C,

.S Army,

_ - Gl AR it 0 i .
2 Last name 3 First name and middie inith

Oberfrank Jogef

) § Orade +8 Company | 7 Regiment and Arm or Bervice 8 Ago
Gofr T 4 P 23
™) g Race 10 Nattvity | 11 Service 12 Date of admission

() 13 Bource of admission

/:;n:g;n:m;h;n or hospital memprsﬂdn: Z
6L T p 2.

Vha lioidy
(.0(.1/ , & hpe 90

- 9-4¢ 5%
g 1

P s

Ak LA

@V)‘/Zo

15 Name of Hospital

® Fil} in as: Register Index, Dingnosis Index, Disability Indox, Death
1ndex, Ont-patlont Index, or Venerenl Report Card, as appropriate.

) 8paces 5to 13 tnclusive nogto he filled in when form 18 used for Regisier
Index in time of peace and in the Zone of the Interfor in time of war.

T'orm K2na
MEDICAL DEPARTMENT, U. 8, A,
(Revised March 15 1028)

87 6 84321 181

LOWER TEETH ,
t Left
16 15 1413121110 9 910 111213 14 15 16

R
cuass. L.

Occlusion --/K ..... : Calculus: Slight, Medium, Heavy

Periodontoclasia - 4/2 .
(D)

Dental foci suspected: Yes
Other conditions /’y one.
%

Date é_gﬁ'_}/ oar ., }Q.ZZ

AL

Dental Corps, U. 8. A.

*Restorable carious teeth by O
Nonrestorable carious teeth by /
Missing natural teeth by X

Teeth replaced by denture
(horizontal line) XXX

Teeth replaced by fixed bridge [ X
(oval to include abutments)

16—20022
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APPENDIX D

CONTRACT



AGREEMENT
PRISONER OF WAR LABOR

by and between

Z. M. Strom

Dwight, Ks.

and

THE MOIRIS COUNTY AGRICULTURAL ASSCCIATION

COUNCIL GROVE, KANSAS

AMOUNT, $ 112.00 (Approximate Total Consideration
involved)

NUXBER OF PRISOMNERS TO BE EMFLOYED 4

FORT RILEY FRISONER OF WAR BRAICH CAMP
AT CCUNCIL GROVE, KA4NSAS

CONTRACT NO. __/EF '

DATE _ Oct. 14, 1544
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CIITRACT, entered into this 14+th day of _ Qct, , 194 4

RRIS COUNTY AGRICULTURAL ASSOCIATICH (hereihafter called -the "ASEQQEEF;SQT)

ed'b&'ihe President of the Association exscuting this Contract and i

B, M, Strom  trading as an individual in the State. ...

S

Name of Contractor)
(hereinafter called the "Contractor").

1, That, the parites hereto do mutually agrse as follows:
cle L. a. The Association agzrees %to furnish to “the -Contractor the
of war labor (hereinafter referred to as "Prisoners of War" in accordance

provisions of this Contract which Contractor will use to perform the

The Contractor agrees to paé in advance for zaid labor the amounts, at the
~intervals, set forth in Schedule "A" hereto attached and made a part

In event the man days actually worked do not equal the 'amount set forth,

le "A", the Association will refund éo thc Contractor the portion of the
ayment remaining after the actual man deys worksd have been pai@ for.

The period of employme.t ‘of the prisonrers of war shall be for approximately

10 days, begiming on or about October 13, 1944 .
cle 2. It is undcrstood~b§ th-e Contractor and the Association that the

of War shall remnin responsible for- the supervision of guarding, ration-
tering, and providing medical at%ention for all prisoners of war furnished
ntractor hercunder, The Contractor'will furnish transportation to and
Branch Camp for the prisoners of war and the guards,
cle 3. The contractor shall furnish the materials, éq&ipment, tools and
icles or facilities necessary in the performerce of‘thq-wprk hereuncer

be chargzec with all the cduties of superintending the work. |

)

162



srticle 4o The Laber of the Prisoncrs of War hereunder shall be governcd by -
rcquireménts and prchibitions of the Geneva Convention of July 27,. 1929, with

set to Prisonors of War which shall iuclude but not bo limited to the follow-

. !

provisions:

ne The lcngth of the day's work of prisoncrs of war will bec so regulcted
thet the same (including the trip to and from the prisoncr of war camp)
will not Bc cxcessive, and will not excecd that allowed for civil workers
in thec region employed at the same work; The length of the day's work

allowed for civil workers in the regior cmpleyed at the same work is

now os follows: Ten (10) hours .

be Tﬂut each priﬁoncr of war will be allowed a rest of “twenty=fcur: consecutive
hourﬁ cvery weck, prcfcrabiy on Sundayse

ce That no prisoner of war will bc‘ﬁscd'at work for which he is physically
unfit, or which is menial, dcgrdding,'unhcalthful or dangerouse

1, That the cortractor will have no authority tc inposc disciplinary mcasures
on prisoners of wur, .

wrticlo 5¢ It is undcrstood by the Associntion and the Controctor that this

ract is subjcct to prcsent and all futuro War Department rcgulations, circglars

instruments relative to the gfcatmght and sccurity of prisoners of war, agd

be altcred accordingzly if inconsistent thorcwithe

.rticlo 6. This Contract may bo terminated:

ne By eithcr of the contracting parties hercto by giving ten days? notice -
in writing to the other party,"or

be By fhe Govermacnt upon a finding of the Sceurity of War or his duly

orized represcntative that any roquircment or prohibition of the Gcncvnfpon-

ion of July 28, 1929, with rcspect to Prisoners of War hes been violated by

Controctors ‘Such toruination shell be effcctive in thc mﬁnncr and upon the

specificd by the Goverament and shall be without prejudicc to any claims

h the Goverrment mey have against the Contractors



+ticle 7e The Contracter shall make payment in advance to the Association

tifiod or caoshier's check, United Statos Post 0ffice money orders or cash,

¢ to the Troasurer of tho lMcrris County igricultural Association‘.

+icloc 84 In the event the work is accomplishod in less than tho contract

payment will bo made only for tho man=days actually worked. Tho balance

o refunded to the contractors

| WLTNESS WHEREOF, t'he parties hercto havo oxecuted this Contract as of the

d year first above written.

THE MORRIS COUNTY AGRICULTURLL ASSQOCIATION
//‘

~

N\

[ i

A {
By: .ILA*\[LV\ ?-f AN
/e Ae Lindgren, Prosidont

’

Elwood Strom

IAN&M of ‘(erm
i -.y}/”

Contractor

o - -’/'-’ /" ,’
17 W (.t e
/
| <7
Z_/,,%Zf«'/,ﬂ,//z--—

~ Signathrc of Contractor

Ml e N ANAN AN

Dwizht, Ks.
Addrecss
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SCHEDULE "a"

hed to and made a part of Contract dated. Oct. 14, 1544

d betveen THE MORRIS COUNTY AGRICULTGBAL ASSOCIATION end E. M. Strom

(lName)
Dwight, Ks. Dwicht
~ (iddress) - {Telophone Nurber)
mber of Prisoners of War to be employed: 4
ind of labor to be performed: Sh-cldngz Feed
eriod of employment: (Approximately) 10 working dayse
ompensations

« Rate of pay per hour per prisomer: General farm vork = 55# and silo filling
ond sced harvesting = 40£ per hourse

o The contractor will be charged for the time actually on the job, the work
day to be computcd to the nearest quarter (2) hour, The maximun work day
exclusive of tinc alleowed for meals and transportation shall be ten hourss

risoners of War shall be obtained each work day at tho Branch Camp at 7:30 aena
nd rmast be returred to the camp not later than 7:00 peme

omputations
. 4 Prisoncrs for 10 days 40 man-dayse

3 Hours per day ot 35 cents per hourt § 2.30
Pcr man=day

Total Amount: 3 112,00

o Placc of employment is located 12 rdles and 10
N.%.E.W.

niles west  of Fte Riley, Kansas, Prisoncr of War Branch Camp, Council
HeSeEeie
Grove, Kensas on Highway UeSe O e

» The contractor shall bo allowed a credit for transporting each Prisoncr of
wor and guard from the Branch Camp to the work site of one cent (lﬁ) per
mile per man hauled and in no case more than fifty cents (50£} per day per
man so transporteds The contractor will also be allowed twenty=fivc conts
(25¢) per moal furnished on the job to cach Prisoner of War and the guarde

1 order to insurc that therce is no competition betweon Prisoner of Wor l-~bor
d frco (non=-prisoncr, regular) labor, the Contractor, in thec event the total
st to him of the prisoner of war labor performed undcr the tems of this con=
ract will be lcssthan the total cost of free labor (as certificd by the Wer
mpowor Commdission or State Director of Agricultural Extension),had such labor
sen engaged at the timo and place, agrees to pay to the Government a sunm of
yney amounting to the differenco betwoen said total costse Payments shall be
\de by certifiod check ot the time of final scttlemente
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